CEC-COILS® 759随信屋®

CEC 國際控股有限公司 CEC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) (於百慕達註冊成立之有限公司)

(Stock Code 股份代號:759

ANNUAL REPORT 年報 2024/2025

Corporate Profile

CEC International Holdings Limited ("CEC International") is a small and medium-sized enterprise that upholds "progressive, determined, dedicated" as its main operating principle and is mainly engaged in design to manufacture of a wide range of electronic coils and local retail business.

Founded in 1979, our electronic coils business has been evolving progressively to become one of the major manufacturers of electronic coils supplying to a multiple of industry segments, including telecommunications and information technology equipment, data networking and power conversion applications, office automation equipment, audio and visual products, home appliance and power tools. CEC International is an experienced and competitive player in the electronic coils arena, with large-scale manufacturing facilities, research and development, sales and customer services based in Mainland China and marketing centers established in Hong Kong China and Mainland China.

759 STORE was established by the Group on 7 July 2010, as the Group started to develop its retail business with reference to the consumption model of Japanese localities. 759 STORE aimed to give desirable service to local Hong Kong residents, providing a relaxing shopping environment with wide range of products for our customers to choose. Our products not only came from Japan, but also from European countries, South-east Asia, Korea, Mainland China, Taiwan China and so forth. To provide our customers with a much comprehensive range of products to select, we did our best to further increase the varieties of our products and, apart from food, we self-imported frozen food, alcohol beverages, household products, kitchenware and personal care products, etc. Looking forward, 759 STORE will continue to serve Hong Kong local residents and provide comfortable, relaxing, diversified and much brand new shopping experience to our customers.

Listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since November 1999, CEC International expects to progressively reinforce its corporate governance through the supervision by the capital market. CEC International is also dedicated to achieving sustainable development for its business, and to generate stable long-term return on shareholders' investment.

Contents

3	Corporate Information
4	Five-Year Financial Summary
5	Management Discussion and Analysis
13	Directors and Senior Management Profile
17	Report of the Directors
28	Corporate Governance Report
41	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
58	Independent Auditor's Report
63	Consolidated Income Statement
64	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
65	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
67	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
68	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
69	Notes to the Financial Statements
32	Schedule of Principal Investment Properties

Corporate Information

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Fung Kwan (Chairman and Managing Director) Mr. Lam Kwok Chung (Deputy Managing Director) Mr. Ho Man Lee

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Goh Gen Cheung Mr. Chan Chiu Ying Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Chiu Ying (Chairman) Mr. Goh Gen Cheung Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Goh Gen Cheung (Chairman) Ms. Tang Fung Kwan

Mr. Chan Chiu Ying

Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Tang Fung Kwan (Chairman)

Mr. Goh Gen Cheung Mr. Chan Chiu Ying

Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Wing Yi

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor 31 Victoria Street Hamilton HM 10 Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF **BUSINESS**

2nd Floor, Hing Win Factory Building 110 How Ming Street Kwun Tong, Kowloon Hong Kong

HEADQUARTERS IN MAINLAND CHINA

Li Xin Jie, Yong An Lu Dong Feng Zhen Zhongshan Guangdong China

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers Certified Public Accountants Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

IFGAL ADVISERS

Grandall Zimmern Law Firm Appleby

SHARE REGISTRARS AND TRANSFER OFFICES

Bermuda Principal Share Registrar

Appleby Global Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street PO Box HM 1179 Hamilton HM EX Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited Shops 1712-1716 17th Floor Hopewell Centre 183 Queen's Road East Hong Kong

Websites: http://www.0759.com http://www.ceccoils.com http://www.irasia.com/ listco/hk/cecint

info@ceccoils.com E-mail:

Listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code: 759

Five-Year Financial Summary

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years are as follows:

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000	2023 HK\$'000	2022 HK\$'000	2021 HK\$'000
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders	(43,831)	(29,812)	49,565	39,884	32,324
Total assets Total liabilities	813,542 (373,293)	886,305 (395,314)	917,091 (383,548)	919,516 (419,863)	983,418 (515,050)
Total Habilities	(373,293)	(393,314)	(303,340)	(419,003)	(313,030)
	440,249	490,991	533,543	499,653	468,368

Management Discussion and Analysis

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of CEC International Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group"), I would like to present the twenty-sixth annual report of the Company since the listing of the Company's shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 15 November 1999.

2024/2025 SUMMARY OF RESULTS

- Revenue decreased 1.7% to HK\$1,444,391,000 (2024: HK\$1,469,606,000);
- Loss for the year of the Company to be HK\$43,831,000 (2024: HK\$29,812,000);
- Basic loss per share was HK6.58 cents (2024: HK4.47 cents);
- Net cash inflow from operating activities of HK\$166,568,000 (2024: HK\$160,930,000); and
- Gross profit margin decreased by 0.7 percentage point to 38.7% (2024: 39.4%).

DIVIDEND

No interim and final dividend was declared for the year ended 30 April 2025 (2024: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 24 September 2025 to Tuesday, 30 September 2025 (both dates inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 30 September 2025 are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 30 September 2025 (the "2025 Annual General Meeting"). In order to qualify to attend and vote at the 2025 Annual General Meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 23 September 2025.

Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

During the fiscal year 2024/25, Hong Kong's business environment continued to be under "dual pressure" from both internal and external factors. The complexity of the international landscape intensified, with escalating geopolitical risks, ongoing regional conflicts, trade wars, and tariff disputes creating significant volatility in energy prices, shipping costs, exchange rates, and interest levels. On the domestic front, factors such as property market adjustments, declining asset prices, and persistently high interest rates have led consumers to adopt a more cautious spending attitude. Sensitivity to the prices of discounted goods has also increased. Additionally, in the "post-pandemic era", citizens' lifestyles have not significantly changed, with nighttime consumption activities remaining weak, leaving streets and shopping malls quiet in the evenings. Meanwhile, the outbound travel trend has shown no signs of abating, with high outbound departure numbers at various boundary control points that every weekend and public holiday has become a peak period for outbound travel by Hong Kong residents, and this trend has gradually normalized, with no signs of reversal at present.

According to figures from the Census and Statistics Department of Hong Kong, as of the Group's fiscal year-end date (30 April 2025), the total value of retail sales in Hong Kong recorded consecutive year-on-year declines for 14 months. In other words, every month during the reviewed fiscal year experienced a decline, reflecting a worsening operating environment for the local retail market. In response to these challenging conditions, the Group has implemented measures including optimizing sourcing strategies, improving store displays, and enhancing staff service quality to manage and mitigate the decline in revenue as much as possible. For the fiscal year ending 30 April 2025, the Group recorded consolidated revenue of HK\$1,444,391,000 (2024: HK\$1,469,606,000), representing a slight year-on-year decrease of 1.7%. Consolidated gross profit declined by approximately HK\$20,931,000, following revenue trends and certain promotional discounting strategies, to HK\$558,457,000 (2024: HK\$579,388,000), marking a decrease of approximately 3.6%. The loss attributable to equity holders for the year was HK\$43,831,000 (2024: HK\$29,812,000), representing an increase of 47.0% compared to the previous year. Despite the increase in annual losses, a closer look at the consolidated performance on six-month basis reveals that both the revenue decline and loss magnitude have shown gradual improvement. This indicates that the Group's cost-saving and revenue-generating measures during the economic downturn are beginning to yield positive results. The following table shows the comparative figures of the consolidated revenue and profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders for the first and second halves of the financial years 2023/24 and 2024/25:

	2023/24 1 st Half	2023/24 2 nd Half	2024/25 1 st Half	2024/25 2 nd Half
Revenue (HK\$'000) Profit/(loss) attributeble to aquity helders	750,947	718,659	702,392	741,999
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders (HK\$'000)	330	(30,142)	(28,648)	(15,183)

Management Discussion and Analysis

Retail Business

During the period under review, the Group's retail business recorded a segment revenue of HK\$1,394,171,000 (2024: HK\$1,422,887,000), representing a year-on-year decline of approximately 2.0%, and accounting for approximately 97% (2024: 97%) of total revenue. Segment gross profit was HK\$557,146,000 (2024: HK\$573,835,000), decreased by 2.9% as compared to that of the previous financial year. In recent years, the local retail market has been battered by multiple adverse factors. The management has summarized three major challenges currently facing the Group's retail business: 1) High demand for outbound travel: Residents' enthusiasm for traveling abroad has surged, with crowds frequently seen at border control points during weekends, and the situation becoming even more pronounced during holidays such as the Easter long holiday; 2) Weak nighttime activity: Throughout the review period, foot traffic after 8 p.m. remained stagnant, indicating that nighttime consumption activity among Hong Kong residents has not returned to pre-pandemic levels; 3) Cautious consumer spending due to high interest rates and property market volatility: These factors have led to a more conservative approach to spending by customers. Hong Kong's retail sales value has recorded consecutive declines for 14 months (March 2024 to April 2025), which accurately reflects the retail market's conditions during the fiscal year. Given the current market environment, the management believes that pursuing expansion plans aimed at revenue growth entails extremely high risks and low feasibility. Thus, under these challenging operating conditions, it is more practical and reasonable to set the revenue target at maintaining the existing level.

759 STORE adheres to a "directly from origin" procurement model, with over 90% of products directly imported from their countries of origin by the purchasing team. The team kept searching for high-quality products around the world for customers to select. Our sourcing network covers approximately 60 countries and regions worldwide (2024: 60). The primary sourcing regions are Japan and South Korea, Southeast Asia and other areas. During the review period, 759 STORE continued to develop its product portfolio, introducing new items. The purchasing team actively increased the number of new products, expanding the range of regular products to approximately 6,500 items (2024: 6,000 items). These products include snacks, beverages, leisure foods, rice, food grocery, frozen foods, personal care items, and tissue products. With the expansion of the product range, the inventory value of the retail business increased to HK\$147,105,000 (30 April 2024: HK\$133,190,000), up 10% compared to the same period last year. The retail segment's gross profit margin for the year was 40.0% (2024: 40.3%), representing a slight decrease of approximately 0.3 percentage point, mainly due to increased promotional discount activities during the period.

Management Discussion and Analysis

During the review period, 759 STORE did not expand its shop network and maintained a similar scale compared to the previous year. As at 30 April 2025, the total number of shops of 759 STORE was 168 (2024: 165), with net increase of 3 shops, including 9 openings and 6 closures. As at the same date, the total gross floor area of shops in operation was 320,000 square feet (30 April 2024: 334,000 square feet), with an average store size of 1,905 square feet (30 April 2024: 2,024 square feet), similar to the previous year's average. Due to the decline in segment revenue, the proportion of frontline staff wages to revenue increased to 10.8% (2024: 10.6%). The average number of frontline staff per shop remained stable at approximately 4 persons (2024: 4.1 persons). The remuneration package of the Group's frontline staff includes basic salaries, commissions, and other benefits, with commissions tied to the performance of individual stores.

In response to the challenging market environment, the Group actively implemented rigorous cost control measures for its retail business during the year. The selling and distribution expenses of the retail business decreased by approximately 1.1% to HK\$460,919,000 (2024: HK\$465,834,000). The management anticipates that store rental levels have stabilized and may even decline. However, most of the Group's store rents remained bound by existing leasing agreements during the review period. Upon lease expiration for certain stores, the management will negotiate with landlords based on prevailing market conditions to adjust rental terms, aiming to improve the cost structure of the retail business. The general and administrative expenses of the retail business increased by 3.5% to HK\$95,504,000 (2024: HK\$92,242,000), primarily due to rising fuel prices, logistics costs, and service provider fees. As a result of these factors, the retail business segment's operating profit for the year was HK\$4,585,000 (2024: HK\$15,981,000), representing a year-on-year decline of 71%.

Electronic Components Manufacturing Business

The Group's electronic components manufacturing business has long been constrained by the global economic downturn and turbulent international conditions, resulting in persistently weak segment revenue. However, signs of bottom-out in the industrial production market seem to have emerged this year. The segment revenue of the Group's electronic components manufacturing business recorded HK\$49,377,000 (2024: HK\$45,685,000), representing a year-on-year increase of 8.1%. During the review period, certain projects from individual customers ceased production, resulting in the termination of procurement for related models of coil products. Consequently, the Group made a one-off provision of HK\$3,640,000 for the remaining raw materials of these coil products. After accounting for this provision, the segment's operating loss for the year was HK\$16,112,000 (2024: HK\$17,461,000), reflecting a year-on-year reduction of 7.7% in the loss.

Management Discussion and Analysis

Investment Properties

Rental income of the Group for the year amounted to HK\$843,000 (2024: HK\$1,034,000). During the year, affected by the downward adjustment trend in the property markets of Hong Kong and Mainland China, a fair value loss of approximately HK\$1,336,000 (2024: HK\$2,538,000) was recorded for investment properties in the consolidated income statement.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Fund Surplus and Liabilities

As at 30 April 2025, the Group's bank balances and cash (denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollar, United States dollar and Renminbi) was HK\$78,174,000 (2024: HK\$92,862,000). As at the same date, the Group had aggregate banking facilities of approximately HK\$381,858,000 (2024: HK\$382,875,000) which included term loans, import and trust receipt loans, etc. Unused facilities as at the same date amounted to approximately HK\$350,537,000 (2024: HK\$356,662,000).

The Group's bank loans (excluding bank guarantees) as at 30 April 2025 amounted to HK\$30,856,000 (2024: HK\$26,213,000), representing an increase of approximately HK\$4,643,000 as compared to that of the previous financial year. The management considers that the financial position remains sufficiently robust. However, with the business environment expected to remain challenging, the Group will continue to adopt a highly prudent financial management strategy to maintain a sound financial position. As at 30 April 2025, the Group's debt to equity ratio* was 0.07 (2024: 0.05). Moreover, as at the same date, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities (2024: Nil).

At 30 April 2025, the abovementioned utilized banking facilities were secured by charges on the Group's certain buildings, investment properties, inventories and bank deposits. In addition, the Group is required to comply with certain restrictive financial covenants imposed by the major financing banks. As at 30 April 2025, the Group had complied with such financial covenants

Assets

As at 30 April 2025, the Group's inventories amounted to HK\$159,213,000 (2024: HK\$151,303,000), representing an increase of 5.2% as compared to the last financial year end, mainly attributable to the expansion of product varieties in procurement by 759 STORE. Meanwhile, the total prepayments, deposits and other receivables (including rental deposits for retail stores) as at the same date were HK\$69,899,000 (2024: HK\$73,397,000), a decrease of 4.8% as compared with last financial year end.

Management Discussion and Analysis

Interest Expenses

The finance cost for the Group in the year was HK\$15,032,000 (2024: HK\$14,988,000), which is comparable to that of the previous financial year. However, after deducting the interest of lease obligation, the actual bank loan interest was HK\$1,655,000 (2024: HK\$773,000), representing an increase of 114% as compared to that of the previous financial year, mainly attributable to the higher utilization of banking facilities in the period.

Financial Resources and Capital Structure

Net cash outflow of the Group was HK\$14,557,000 (2024: HK\$14,295,000) for the year. Net cash inflow from operating activities was HK\$166,568,000 (2024: HK\$160,930,000), representing an increase of 3.5% as compared to that of the previous year. Net cash outflow for investing activities in the period was HK\$6,833,000 (2024: HK\$12,212,000), representing a decrease of 44%, which was mainly attributable to the capital expenditure for shop renovations and purchase of logistic facilities. The management suspended all non-essential capital expenditures and large-scale investment plans in light of the current unfavourable retail market conditions. Cash outflow for financing activities was HK\$174,292,000 (2024: HK\$163,013,000).

Cash Flow Summary

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Net cash inflow from operating activities	166,568	160,930
Net cash outflow from investing activities	(6,833)	(12,212)
Net cash outflow from financing activities#	(174,292)	(163,013)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(14,557)	(14,295)

This net amount included lease payment of HK\$178,181,000 (2024: HK\$179,927,000).

As at 30 April 2025, net current liabilities of HK\$940,000 (2024: net current assets of HK\$9,288,000) and current ratio of 1.00 (2024: 1.03) were recorded. This reflects that while the Group's liquidity has been affected by the deteriorating market conditions, the management has made every effort to implement strategies to increase income and reduce expenses, continuing to sustain and improve the Group's cash flow and liquidity.

Charges on Assets

As at 30 April 2025, certain assets of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of approximately HK\$266,936,000 (2024: HK\$271,565,000) were pledged to secure banking facilities of the Group.

Management Discussion and Analysis

Exchange Risks

The Group's business is mainly conducted in Hong Kong, Mainland China and South-east Asia. The major revenue currencies are denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi and United States dollars; whilst the major currencies for costs are denominated in Japanese Yen, United States dollars, Euro, Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi. The Group will do its best to closely monitor fluctuations in the foreign exchange market, actively adjusting the combination of the places of origins for our import products to offset the impact that currency fluctuation brought. At the moment, procurement cost of the Group will be affected when exchange rate of Japanese Yen and Euro rebound sharply. In the light of this, the Group will pay close attention to the fluctuation trends of Japanese Yen and Euro.

Employees

As at 30 April 2025, the Group employed approximately 1,300 staff (2024: 1,350) in total. The remuneration of employees was set with reference to market standard, individual performance, academic qualification and work experience, and reviewed regularly. Other agreed employee benefits included pension scheme, medical insurance, on-job training, education subsidy and other social insurances and paid leaves as required under the laws and regulation at the place of employment.

FUTURE PLAN AND OUTLOOK

The Hong Kong retail industry remains trapped in a prolonged downturn characterized by "structural adjustments", with no clear signs of recovery in the market. The Board believes that this downturn is not a short-term fluctuation but rather a normalized challenge for the industry. Based on this assessment of a persistently subdued market, the management has adopted a core strategy of "surviving in stability". Until the market shows significant recovery, the Group will avoid aggressive investments and prioritize maintaining stability in its existing operations. At the same time, the Group is intensifying cost-saving efforts by reducing non-essential expenses, aiming to manage this prolonged challenge through cost control and resource preservation for future opportunities.

In recent years, local consumption has been steadily contracting. The Group candidly acknowledges that it is difficult to achieve breakeven if rental costs remain at levels reflective of the market's peak during the boom years. The management will review stores with leases nearing expiration and negotiate renewal arrangements with landlords, targeting rental adjustments that align with current market conditions to ease cost pressures. While the Group has not set a specific target for the number of shops of 759 STORE, it will seize opportunities arising from the increased availability of vacant retail spaces across Hong Kong. The focus will be on gradually expanding the network by selecting new store locations that meet the criteria of "reasonable rent and suitable location".

Management Discussion and Analysis

Under the current environment, the management sees attracting customers to "stay and spend in Hong Kong" as a critical mission for local retailers. 759 STORE is committed to offering customers more freshness and an enhanced shopping experience. The Group will continue to strengthen its core competitive advantages by leveraging its global procurement network, which spans 60 countries and regions. It will maintain over 90% of the products being directly imported from the country of origin and a high proportion being sold exclusively, enabling 759 STORE to establish a differentiated brand advantage and avoid vicious competition from peers. The procurement team plans to increase engagement with food and daily necessity manufacturers and exporters worldwide, participate in more trade exhibitions, and expand sourcing channels. The goal is to introduce several new product lines each quarter, continuously refreshing the product offerings at stores and attracting customers to shop at 759 STORE.

In summary, in response to the structural adjustments in the industry, the Group has chosen a development path centered on "surviving in stability". By optimizing and cautiously expanding its shop network layout, reducing rental costs to alleviate burdens, and focusing on enhancing its unique global procurement strengths and upgrading the shopping experience, the Group is committed to reinforcing its differentiated brand competitiveness. This strategy not only pragmatically addresses current pressures but also lays the groundwork for growth opportunities when the market recovers, ensuring long-term momentum for sustainable operations.

By Order of the Board **Tang Fung Kwan** *Chairman*

Hong Kong, 30 July 2025

Directors and Senior Management Profile

Directors

Executive Directors

Ms. TANG Fung Kwan, aged 55, was appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect from 29 September 1999, and has been the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company since 19 August 2018. She is responsible for leading the strategic planning, business development and overall management of the Group. Ms. Tang is also the managing director of Coils Electronic (Zhong Shan) Co., Ltd. and a number of other subsidiaries of the Company. She is currently a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company. She has been admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences with Honours in The University of Hong Kong in 1992, the degree of International Master of Business Administration in The University of South Australia, Australia, in 1998, the degree of Bachelor of Laws (LLB) in The Manchester Metropolitan University, United Kingdom, in 2006, the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws and the degree of Master of Laws in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution in The University of Hong Kong in 2008 and 2010 respectively. Ms. Tang joined the Group in 1993.

Mr. LAM Kwok Chung, aged 33, was appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect from 28 September 2018, and has been the Deputy Managing Director of the Company since 1 August 2021. He is responsible for overseeing the Group's store operation and marketing functions. Mr. Lam is the sole director of Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited and a director of Coils Electronic (Zhong Shan) Co., Ltd. and a number of other subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lam has been awarded Bachelor of Arts under the Credit Accumulation Mechanism offered by the School of Professional Education and Executive Development, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2014. Mr. Lam joined the Group in 2013.

Mr. HO Man Lee, aged 45, was appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect from 27 September 2011, responsible for the Group's development and application of information technology as well as administration and human resources management. He is also responsible for coordinating marketing-related joint programs and is actively engaged in compliance management of the retail operation. Mr. Ho joined the Group in 2001 and has worked in various departments, duties included information system development, administration and personnel management, company secretary and etc. Since the establishment of 759 STORE, he continued to take part in various functions of the retail business, including marketing, store operation, shop leasing and etc. Mr. Ho has been admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Computer Science with Honours in The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2001, the degree of Master of Business Administration in The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2006 and the degree of Master of Science in Business Analytics in The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2024.

Directors and Senior Management Profile

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. GOH Gen Cheung, aged 78, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 1 December 2005. He is a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company and was appointed as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 29 September 2021. Mr. Goh has over 30 years of treasury, finance and banking experience. He is a Certified Banker of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers and obtained a Master's degree in Business Administration from the University of East Asia, Macau in 1987. Mr. Goh is also an independent non-executive director of Beijing Properties (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. CHAN Chiu Ying, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 1 February 2015 and is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan has over 30 years' experience in the fields of accounting, securities and corporate finance spanning from regulatory to investment advisory and management of listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan holds a Master degree in Business Administration from the University of Bradford, the United Kingdom and is an advisor providing corporate and strategic advisory services in Hong Kong and China. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also an associate of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, the United Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. From September 2004 to January 2015, Mr. Chan was also an independent non-executive director of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (formerly known as Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. TSUI Mei Ling, May, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company, a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 24 December 2021. Ms. Tsui graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1985 with a Bachelor of Arts degree. She went on to further study in law and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1994 and in England and Wales in 1997. After her initial years of legal practice, Ms. Tsui spent more than five years working for several Securities and Futures Commission licenced corporations during which period she was appointed as a director being responsible for the supervision of the investment advisory business of those licensed corporations. She had been registered as an investment adviser and licensed as a responsible officer to advise on corporate finance. Since 2004 she has been working in a law firm in Hong Kong as a Consultant. Ms. Tsui has over 35 years of experience in legal, corporate finance and company secretarial practice.

Directors and Senior Management Profile

Senior Management

Company Secretary

Ms. HO Wing Yi, aged 51, is the head of accounting of the Group, responsible for the Group's financial reporting and corporate finance functions. Ms. Ho is also the company secretary of the Company. She worked in an international firm of certified public accountants and has over 7 years of experience in auditing. Ms. Ho has been admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Accountancy with Honours and the degree of Master of Business Administration in The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1996 and 2007 respectively. She is also a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Ho joined the Group in 2003.

Electronic Components Manufacturing Business

Ms. MAI Shaoling, aged 61, is the head of factory affairs of Coils Electronic (Zhong Shan) Co., Ltd. responsible for managing the factory affairs of Zhongshan main plant. Ms. Mai is also the Party branch secretary of 中共中山市東鳳鎮高雅線圈製品有限公司 (Zhongshan Dong Feng Zhen Coils Electronic Company Limited). She has over 40 years of experience in administration and has been admitted to the degree of Master of Business Administration in The University of Wales, United Kingdom in 2013. Ms. Mai joined the Group in 1983.

Mr. WANG Zhengwen, aged 57, is the head of finance of Coils Electronic (Zhong Shan) Co., Ltd. responsible for the accounts management of Zhongshan main plant. He graduated from the Beijing University of Finance and Economics in 1990 and obtained the qualification of accountant from the Ministry of Finance, People's Republic of China. Mr. Wang joined the Group in 1998.

Ms. LAI Wanru, aged 53, is the head of purchasing of Coils Electronic (Zhong Shan) Co., Ltd. responsible for the purchase, materials procurement and logistics management functions of the Group's coil business as well as the purchasing function of 759 STORE. Ms. Lai has over 35 years of experience in materials procurement, coils production as well as sales and marketing. She has been admitted to the executive diploma in Management Studies in The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005. Ms. Lai joined the Group in 1990.

Mr. ZHAO Xiangqun, aged 63, is the head of engineering and quality responsible for the management of engineering and quality functions of the Group's electronic components manufacturing business. Mr. Zhao has over 35 years of experience in research and development of electronic components and quality management. He has been admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Science in Physics and the degree of Master of Science in Gravitational Physics in the Sun Yat-Sen University, China, in 1986 and 1989 respectively. Mr. Zhao joined the Group in 2001.

Directors and Senior Management Profile

Retail Business

Ms. LEE Tsz Kei, aged 32, is the business development and operations manager, responsible for strategic sourcing, vendor and merchandizing management, business process optimization and the coordination of new initiatives in the retail business assigned by the managing director, such as to explore and develop new sourcing networks and ways of merchandizing related to healthy living style. She has been admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Operations Management and Management with Honours in The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2015, the Master Degree of Art in Psychology in The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2018 and the degree of Master of Science in Engineering Business Management in The University of Warwick, United Kingdom in 2022. Ms. Lee joined the Group in 2015.

Mr. CHEUNG Ming Yat, aged 49, is the head of corporate strategy and development responsible for strategic studies and data analytics of the retail business. He has been admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Finance with Honours in The University of Hong Kong in 1998. Mr. Cheung first joined the Group in 1998 and his most recent joining date was in November 2015.

Ms. SIU Pui Yan, aged 43, is the purchasing manager of retail business, responsible for coordinating the purchases and supplies of the retail business. She has been admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Lingnan University, Hong Kong in 2003. Ms. Siu joined the Group in 2010.

Mr. FUKUOKA Kazuaki, aged 61, is the business development manager of purchasing of retail business, responsible for developing new source of Japanese food grocery for 759 STORE. Mr. Fukuoka has over 35 years of experience in areas such as retail of snack and food grocery, shop management, visual merchandising, shop layout design, etc. Mr. Fukuoka joined the Group in 2011.

Mr. CAO Huizhong, aged 55, is the quality assurance manager responsible for the management of food quality and labeling functions. Mr. Cao has over 30 years of experience in quality management. He has been admitted to the degree of Master of Business Administration in The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2006. Mr. Cao joined the Group in 1994.

Mr. QING Liang, aged 47, is the head of information system responsible for managing the development and application of information system. Mr. Qing has been admitted to the degree of Bachelor of Computer Science and Technology with Honours in the Chongqing Jiaotong University, China (formerly known as the Chongqing Jiaotong Institute) in 2000 and the degree of Master of Science in Engineering Business Management jointly awarded by The University of Warwick, United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2014. Mr. Qing joined the Group in 2002.

Ms. WONG Sin Kam, aged 63, is the head of shop operation responsible for the management of shop operation and leasing function of 759 STORE. She has over 40 years of working experience in related field. Ms. Wong joined the Group in 1990.

Mr. HO Kwok Keung, aged 67, is the head of engineering (interior fitting out) responsible for managing the fitting-out and its maintenance of the retail shops. He is a former executive director of the Company (appointed on 20 December 2002 and resigned on 14 August 2003). He has over 45 years of experience in electronics and electrical industry. Mr. Ho joined the Group in 1996.

Report of the Directors

The Directors of the Company (the "Directors") present this report together with the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") for the year ended 30 April 2025.

Principal activities and geographical analysis of operations

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) retail of food and beverage, household and personal care products, (ii) design, development, manufacture and sale of a wide range of coils, ferrite powder and other electronic components, and (iii) investment property holding.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating segments is set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

Business Review

A review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is set out in the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis" on pages 5 to 12 of this annual report and Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 71 to 79 of this annual report. There was no major event affecting the Group that has occurred since the financial year ended 30 April 2025. The review forms part of the Report of the Directors.

Discussions on the Group's environmental policies are set out under the section headed "A. Environment" of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 44 to 49 of this annual report.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties with which the Group is encountering and discussions on the Group's compliance with relevant laws and regulations, and on the relationships with its key stakeholders which have a significant impact on the Group are provided in the paragraphs below.

Report of the Directors

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks associated with import costs

759 STORE imports products independently on its own effort in container units, in which over 90% of the products are imported directly from their places of origin. Since purchase prices are generally in Japanese Yen, Euro and US dollar, the fluctuations in Japanese Yen and Euro will directly affect the purchasing cost. To offset the risk due to the fluctuating currencies, 759 STORE makes good effort to search for new product sources from different places of origin that its purchasing network has currently covered 60 countries and regions, and endeavours to diversify the impact arising from fluctuations of the currency and economy in a single region on the purchasing cost.

Fluctuations in external economic environment

The global geopolitical situation is at a complex moment. The extreme fluctuations in global financial markets have seriously affected the economies all over the world, leading to abnormal fluctuations in the global stock market and international exchange rates in a bewildering way with sharp soars and abrupt drops at times. For local retail market, though no significant fluctuation has emerged so far, the continuous uncertainty in the external economic environment has led to the risk of downturn in Hong Kong's export industry and other sectors, and it is difficult to estimate the magnitude of the impact on consumer demand in the future. 759 STORE positions itself as retailer of daily necessities, developing mainly on, not only leisure foods, but also foods, groceries and daily necessities to cope with the future changes in economic cycles which may greatly fluctuate.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, the Group has not been aware of any material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations that have a significant impact on its businesses and operations.

Report of the Directors

Relationship with Customers and Suppliers

759 STORE has its outlets penetrated in almost all residential districts in Hong Kong and has since its establishment endeavoured to provide quality services to customers.

On the supply chain front, 759 STORE sticks to its self-import model with suppliers from 60 countries and regions globally, most of them are overseas manufacturers, farms and large scaled wholesalers. The Group values mutually beneficial long lasting relationships with its customers and suppliers to ensure sustainable development of its business.

Relationship with Employees

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. The management reviews regularly the compliance of the Group's subsidiaries with local labour laws and regulations in order to ensure fair labour practice among the workforce.

The Group believes that employees are its valuable assets and regards human resources as its corporate wealth. The management regularly reviews the Group's remuneration packages to ensure that they are in line with the prevailing market standard in order to attract and retain employees. The Group also provides employees with on-job training and development opportunities to enhance their career progression.

Results and appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2025 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 63 of this annual report.

No interim and final dividend was declared for the year ended 30 April 2025 (2024: Nil).

Principal investment properties

Details of the principal properties of the Group held for investment purposes are set out on page 132 of this annual report.

Report of the Directors

Distributable reserves

As at 30 April 2025, the Company's contributed surplus of approximately HK\$131,338,000 (2024: HK\$131,338,000) (subject to provisions under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended)) and retained earnings of approximately HK\$10,962,000 (2024: HK\$10,962,000) were available for distribution to the equity holders of the Company.

Pre-emptive rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights in the Company's Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders of the Company.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's listed shares

The Company had not redeemed any of its listed shares during the year ended 30 April 2025. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Company's listed shares during the year ended 30 April 2025.

Directors

The Directors who held office during the year ended 30 April 2025 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Fung Kwan (Chairman and Managing Director)

Mr. Lam Kwok Chung (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. Ho Man Lee

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Goh Gen Cheung

Mr. Chan Chiu Ying

Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Company's Bye-laws, Mr. Lam Kwok Chung and Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has not received from its independent non-executive Directors any notification concerning any change of circumstances which may affect their independence pursuant to the requirements under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Listing Rules") and the Company considers such Directors are independent based on the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Report of the Directors

Directors' service contracts

None of the Directors who will be proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors' material interests in transactions, arrangements and contracts that are significant in relation to the Company's business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Company's subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director and the Director's connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any time during the year.

Biographical details of directors and senior management

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 13 to 16 of this annual report.

Report of the Directors

Director's and chief executive's interests and/or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the Company or any other associated corporations

As at 30 April 2025, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO") as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") were as follows:

(a) Shares of the Company

	Number of sh				
Name of Name of director			Total interests		
Ms. Tang Fung Kwan	4,194,611	-	4,194,611	0.63%	
Mr. Lam Kwok Chung	-	442,295,660 (Note 3)	442,295,660 (Note 3)	66.39%	
Mr. Ho Man Lee	30,000	_	30,000	0.0045%	

Notes:

- 1. All the above interests in the shares of the Company were long positions.
- 2. Personal interests were interests held by the relevant directors as beneficial owners.
- 3. The 442,295,660 shares were held by Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ka Yan China Investments Limited. The entire issued share capital of Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited was ultimately held by HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust (the "Trust") founded by the late Mr. Lam Wai Chun, the founding chairman of the Company and a former director of the Company. In the capacity as a discretionary beneficiary of the Trust, Mr. Lam Kwok Chung was deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Report of the Directors

(b) Shares of associated corporation(s) of the Company

Coils Electronic Co., Limited

Number of non-voting deferred shares of HK\$1.00 each held

		Percentage of
		issued non-voting
Name of director	Trusts interests	deferred shares
Mr. Lam Kwok Chung (Notes 4 and 5)	6,000,000	42.86%

Notes:

- 4. The 6,000,000 non-voting deferred shares were held by Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited, representing approximately 42.86% of the 14,000,000 non-voting deferred shares in the share capital of Coils Electronic Co., Limited, in which Coils International Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, held the entire issued ordinary share capital. Mr. Lam Kwok Chung was deemed to be interested in all these shares under the SFO by virtue of the reason set out in Note 3 to sub-paragraph (a) above.
- 5. All the above interests in the non-voting deferred shares of Coils Electronic Co., Limited held or deemed to be held by Mr. Lam Kwok Chung were long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2025, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be entered into the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2025, neither the Directors or chief executive of the Company nor their spouses or children under the age of 18 had been granted any rights to subscribe for any equity or debt securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised such rights.

Report of the Directors

Directors' rights to acquire shares or debentures

At no time during the year ended 30 April 2025 was the Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its holding companies or its other associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Interests of shareholders discloseable under the SFO

As at 30 April 2025, according to the register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following persons, other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Shares of the Company

Substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)

Number of shares of HK\$0.10 each held						
Name	Beneficial owner	Family interests	Corporate interests	Trusts interests	Total interests	Percentage of issued share capital
Ms. Law Ching Yee	-	29,955,188 (Note 2)	-	442,295,660 (Notes 2)	472,250,848 (Notes 2)	70.89%
Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited	442,295,660 (Notes 2 and 3)	-	-	-	442,295,660 (Notes 2 and 3)	66.39%
Ka Yan China Investments Limited	-	-	442,295,660 (Notes 2 and 3)	-	442,295,660 (Notes 2 and 3)	66.39%
HSBC International Trustee Limited	-	-	-	442,295,660 (Notes 2 and 3)	442,295,660 (Notes 2 and 3)	66.39%

Report of the Directors

Notes:

- 1. All the above interests in the shares of the Company were long positions.
- 2. The 442,295,660 shares were held by Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ka Yan China Investments Limited. The entire issued share capital of Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited was ultimately held by the Trust. In the capacity as a discretionary beneficiary of the Trust, Ms. Law Ching Yee was deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited for the purpose of the SFO. The 29,955,188 shares were held by the late Mr. Lam Wai Chun, the founding chairman of the Company and a former director of the Company, as beneficial owner. Ms. Law Ching Yee, being the spouse of the late Mr. Lam Wai Chun, was deemed to be interested in all the shares held by her spouse, for the purpose of the SFO.
- 3. The interests in 442,295,660 shares held by Ka Yan China Investments Limited, the ultimate holding company of the Company, and HSBC International Trustee Limited refer to the same shares and duplicated with each other. Such shares formed the shares in which Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited was interested. As at 30 April 2025, the actual number of shares held by Ka Yan China Investments Limited, Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited and HSBC International Trustee Limited in the Company which duplicated with one another was 442,295,660 shares.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other person (other than a director or a chief executive of the Company) who had an interest (whether direct or indirect) in 5% or more of the shares comprised in the relevant share capital or a short position which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at 30 April 2025.

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed during the year.

Emolument policy

The Board, with the benefit of the advice from its Remuneration Committee, formulated the employee emolument policy of the Group on the basis of their merits, qualifications and competence.

The basis of determining the remuneration of the Directors is set out under the section headed "Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management" of the Corporate Governance Report on pages 32 to 33 of this annual report.

Report of the Directors

Major suppliers

The percentages of purchases for the year under review attributable to the Group's major suppliers are as follows:

Purchases

the largest supplier
five largest suppliers combined
37%

None of the Directors, nor any of their respective associates or a shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) has an interest in any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

Major customers

During the year under review, the Group sold less than 5% of its goods and services to its five largest customers.

Related party transactions

Details of significant related party transactions entered into by the Group are set out in Note 31 to the financial statements on pages 113 to 114 of this annual report which did not constitute notifiable connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at 30 July 2025 being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year ended 30 April 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.

Permitted indemnity provision

During the year ended 30 April 2025 and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the directors' and officers' liability insurance for the Directors and the officers of the Company to provide protection against claims arising from the lawful discharge of duties by such Directors and officers.

Five years' financial summary

A summary of the Group's financial information for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

Report of the Directors

Auditor

The financial statements of the Company have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

TANG FUNG KWAN

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 July 2025

Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the "Board") of the Company believes that good corporate governance plays an important role in maintaining and promoting investors' confidence. The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains a high quality of corporate governance. The Company has adopted the principles and complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the "Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the "Listing Rules") on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") for the year ended 30 April 2025, except for the following deviation:

1. Under code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Since 29 September 2009, the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company (the "CEO") were performed by the late Mr. Lam Wai Chun, the founding Chairman of the Company. After the pass away of Mr. Lam Wai Chun, Ms. Tang Fung Kwan has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Company with effect from 19 August 2018 and has carried out the responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO since then. This constitutes a deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the Code which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Ms. Tang Fung Kwan has been the key management of the Group for over 25 years and has devoted herself and contributed greatly to the Group's development. She has been the executive director of the Company since its listing on the Stock Exchange in 1999 and has engaged in directing the corporate strategies and operations of the Group. She possesses substantial and valuable experience in the industry and in the Group's operation. The Board believes that vesting the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO in the same person will provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and promote effective and efficient formulation and implementation of business decisions and strategies and considers that such structure is currently in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders at this stage.

Save as disclosed above, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company's corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

759 STORE aims to deliver superior service to the local community, fostering a relaxing shopping experience complemented by an extensive selection of high quality products. The Company upholds the principles of "progressive, determined, and dedicated" as its guiding operational ethos and is committed to cultivating a corporate culture anchored in integrity, inclusivity, and excellence. These values, we believe, are pivotal in propelling the Company towards achieving its long-term strategic goals and ensuring sustainable growth. The Board assumes the leading role in embedding this positive culture throughout the organization, thereby shaping a workplace environment where every employee feels empowered to conduct themselves in a lawful, ethical, and responsible manner.

759 STORE adheres to the model of "Quick Turnover with Lower Margin" and "Direct Import from Place of Origin". Detailed discussions on the Group's business strategies are set out under the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis" on pages 5 to 12 of this annual report.

Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises three executive directors, namely Ms. Tang Fung Kwan (Chairman and Managing Director), Mr. Lam Kwok Chung (Deputy Managing Director) and Mr. Ho Man Lee; and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Goh Gen Cheung, Mr. Chan Chiu Ying and Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May. The number of independent non-executive directors of the Company represents half of the Board and there is one independent non-executive director who possesses appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has not received from its independent non-executive Directors any notification concerning any change of circumstances which may affect their independence pursuant to the requirements under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all its independent non-executive Directors are independent based on the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. To the best knowledge of the members of the Board, none of them has any financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship with each other.

In accordance with the Company's Bye-laws, one-third of the directors of the Company shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and each of their re-election is subject to a vote of shareholders. Every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The Board determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the Group. In addition, the Board monitors and controls the operating and financial performance in pursuit of the Group's strategic objectives. The day-to-day management of the Group's business is delegated to the Managing Director and the management of the Group under the supervision of the executive directors of the Company. The functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate. Matters reserved for the Board are those affecting the Group's overall strategic policies, financial objectives, dividend policy, changes in accounting policies, material acquisition and disposal of assets, investments and capital projects, banking facilities, provision of guarantees and indemnities, determination and adoption of documents (including the publication of announcements, reports and statements to shareholders) that are required pursuant to the Company's constitutional documents, statutes and other applicable regulations, as well as compliance with the financial covenants imposed by banks.

The Board is also responsible for overseeing ESG issues, formulating the overall strategies and objectives therefor, as well as performing the corporate governance duties including: (i) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on corporate governance; (ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management; (iii) to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and (v) to review the Company's compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

With the support of the executive directors and the management of the Group, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate information, which are complete and reliable, in a timely manner. Each of the directors keeps abreast of his/her responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and development of the Company. Monthly updates are provided to directors to ensure that they are aware of the business and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its business.

The Company renewed the directors' and officers' liability insurance for members of the Board in February 2025 to provide protection against claims arising from the lawful discharge of duties by the directors.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating performance of the Group each financial year. Regular Board meetings are held at least four times per year. The directors may attend Board meetings in person or by means of a conference telephone, electronic or other communication in accordance with the Company's Bye-laws.

ATTENDANCES OF MEETINGS

The number of meetings of the Board and its committees during the year ended 30 April 2025, the individual attendance of each Board and committee member at these meetings and the attendance of the Board members at the 2024 AGM are set out below:

		Audit	Remuneration	Nomination	2024
Directors	Board	Committee	Committee	Committee	AGM
Executive Directors					
Tang Fung Kwan	7/7	_	2/2	1/1	1/1
Lam Kwok Chung	7/7	_	_	_	1/1
Ho Man Lee	7/7	_	_	_	1/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors					
Goh Gen Cheung	7/7	4/4	2/2	1/1	1/1
Chan Chiu Ying	7/7	4/4	2/2	1/1	1/1
Tsui Mei Ling, May	7/7	4/4	2/2	1/1	1/1

Corporate Governance Report

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Since 29 September 2009, the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO were performed by the late Mr. Lam Wai Chun, the founding Chairman of the Company. After the pass away of Mr. Lam Wai Chun, Ms. Tang Fung Kwan has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Company with effect from 19 August 2018 and has carried out the responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO since then. Ms. Tang Fung Kwan has been the key management of the Group for over 25 years and has devoted herself and contributed greatly to the Group's development. She has been the executive director of the Company since its listing on the Stock Exchange in 1999 and has engaged in directing the corporate strategies and operations of the Group. She possesses substantial and valuable experience in the industry and in the Group's operation. The Board believes that vesting the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO in the same person will provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and promote effective and efficient formulation and implementation of business decisions and strategies and considers that such structure is currently in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders at this stage.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the three non-executive directors of the Company are independent and have entered into their respective letters of appointment for a term of two years.

INDUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT

Upon their appointments, directors will meet with our external legal adviser and be advised on the legal and other duties and obligations they have as directors of a listed company. Throughout the course of their directorship, directors are updated on any developments or changes affecting the Company and their obligations to it monthly and at regular Board meetings.

Ongoing training and development of directors is pivotal for sustaining a knowledgeable and effective Board. All directors are encouraged to engage in a diverse array of developmental activities, including attending industry seminars, training courses, and conferences, funded by the Company. As part of their continuous professional development ("CPD"), directors are regularly briefed on various topics, in particular recent regulatory changes, current market dynamics and ESG initiatives, that are relevant to their duties and responsibilities through their participation in the training sections organized by the Company Secretary and external advisors. In addition, all directors are provided with reading materials from time to time to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.

Corporate Governance Report

INDUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT (continued)

The Company has received from all its directors of their respective training records for the year ended 30 April 2025. The Board has reviewed and monitored the training and CPD of the directors and the senior management of the Group. The CPD training received by the directors during the year ended 30 April 2025 is summarised as below:

Executive Directors	
Tang Fung Kwan	(1) & (2)
Lam Kwok Chung	(1) & (2)
Ho Man Lee	(1) & (2)
Independent Non-Executive Directors	
Goh Gen Cheung	(1) & (2)
Chan Chiu Ying	(1) & (2)
Tsui Mei Ling, May	(1) & (2)
Notes:	

- (1) Attending training courses, seminars, forums, conferences, workshops or briefing sessions
- (2) Reading materials, reports, articles or other papers on business, industry or regulatory updates

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Board established a Remuneration Committee on 18 March 2005 with written terms of reference, which are available on the Company's website (www.0759.com), setting out the duties (including but not limited to the duties as required under the Code Provisions of the Code) and authority of the Remuneration Committee. The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include but not limited to making recommendations to the Board on (i) the Company's policy and structure for all remunerations and fees of directors of the Company and senior management of the Group, (ii) the remuneration packages of each executive director of the Company and senior management of the Group, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, and (iii) the remuneration of non-executive directors of the Company, as well as reviewing and approving the management's remuneration proposals.

The Company's remuneration policy aims to establish a fair and consistent framework for determining competitive remuneration packages that can attract, retain, motivate and reward employees at all levels. The remuneration packages may consist of a combination of fixed and variable remuneration. Other employee benefits included pension scheme, on-job training, education subsidy and other social insurances and paid leaves as required under the laws and regulations at the place of employment. In addition, discretionary bonus may be granted to eligible employees taking into account factors such as market benchmark as well as the Group's and individual's performance during the year. The employee remuneration is reviewed regularly.

Corporate Governance Report

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

In determining the emolument of directors of the Company and senior management of the Group, the Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries or fees paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the directors and senior management, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group, desirability performance-based remuneration, the operating results of the Group, individual performance and prevailing market conditions. No director is involved in any discussion about his/her own remuneration.

The emoluments of the members of the senior management by band for the year ended 30 April 2025 are set out below:

	Number o	f members
Emolument bands	2025	2024
Nil to HK\$1,000,000	11	13
HK\$1,000,000 to HK\$1,500,000	2	2

Further particulars regarding the directors' emoluments and the 5 highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in Note 8 to the financial statements on page 86 of this annual report.

During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. The works performed by the Remuneration Committee included making recommendation to the Board of the remuneration package (including the relevant service agreement) of executive directors, and the terms and conditions of the letters of appointment of independent non-executive directors, reviewing the Group's remuneration policy, the remuneration packages of the executive directors and senior management of the Group, as well as reviewing and determining the upper limit of revised salary for the senior management.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four members including one executive director, namely Ms. Tang Fung Kwan, and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Goh Gen Cheung (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Chan Chiu Ying and Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors' securities transactions. Following specific enquiry by the Company, all of the directors of the Company confirmed compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code at the applicable times for the period from 1 May 2024 to 30 April 2025. The Model Code also applies to the relevant employees of the Group.

Corporate Governance Report

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established a Nomination Committee on 21 March 2012 with written terms of reference, which are available on the Company's website (www.0759.com), setting out the duties (including but not limited to the duties as required under the Code Provisions of the Code) and authority of the Nomination Committee. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include but not limited to reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy and assessing the independence of independent non-executive directors of the Company. The Nomination Committee currently comprises four members including one executive director, namely Ms. Tang Fung Kwan (chairman of the Nomination Committee), and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Goh Gen Cheung, Mr. Chan Chiu Ying and Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May.

The Board has adopted a policy (the "Nomination Policy") which sets out the selection criteria and procedures for nominating suitable candidates for appointment as a new director of the Company or to fill a vacancy. When searching candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall invite nominations from the Board members or may also put forward candidates by itself. In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination Committee will take into consideration factors including, inter alia, the candidate's reputation for integrity, accomplishment and experience, commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest, and benefits to the Company's board diversity. In the case of independent non-executive director, the candidate must also satisfy the independence requirements as set out under any applicable laws, rules and regulations. Shortlisted candidates will then be nominated to the Board for its consideration.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board, the Company has established mechanisms including: (i) at least one-third of the Board are independent non-executive directors; (ii) independent non-executive directors receive fixed fee for their roles as the members of the Board and chairmen of the Board Committees as appropriate; (iii) no independent non-executive director holds more than six listed company directorships; (iv) further appointment of independent non-executive director who has served the Company for more than nine years is subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders of the Company; (v) the Nomination Committee will assess the independence of each independent non-executive director annually; (vi) at least one post-meeting private session between the Chairman and the independent non-executive directors is held annually to provide a forum where independent views can be communicated to the Chairman directly; and (vii) all directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice as appropriate at the Company's expenses to facilitate proper discharge of their duties. The Board has reviewed the implementation of these mechanisms during the year ended 30 April 2025 and considered that they remain effective.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 30 April 2025. During this period, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the independence of independent non-executive directors and made recommendation to the Board for the re-appointment of retiring directors.

Corporate Governance Report

DIVERSITY

The Company recognises the importance of the diversity of composition of the Board for the sustainable and balanced development of the Group in the long term. The Board has adopted a policy (the "Board Diversity Policy") that sets out the approach to achieving the Board's diversity through consideration of a range of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience, professional qualifications, expertise, skills and the business plans of the Group at the material time. All appointments of director of the Company will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee is delegated with the responsibility to monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy by reviewing the Board's composition at least once annually. As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 2 female directors and 4 male directors. Female representation on the Board is approximately 33%. The members of the Board came from various education and professional backgrounds who possess a diverse range of experience, skills and expertise that have brought different insights to the Board. The Nomination Committee considers the current composition of the Board to be diverse, whether in respect of gender, age, professional knowledge, skills, experience and other evaluation criteria as set out in the Board Diversity Policy and is appropriate to complement the Company's corporate strategy. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and, for the purpose of ensuring their effectiveness and relevance to the Company's needs, as well as complying with both the regulatory requirements effective from time to time and good corporate governance practices, the Nomination Committee will periodically review these policies, and when necessary, consider setting further measurable objectives and recommend any revisions of these policies to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Company is also committed to creating an inclusive and diverse workplace. We continuously optimize the workforce composition in pursuit of a well-diversified staff structure that aligns with our business development objectives. As at 30 April 2025, the gender ratio of our workforce was 70:30 (female to male ratio). 46% of the senior management positions were held by female employees. At present, we consider this gender ratio reasonable and appropriate that can drive innovation and promote our decision-making capabilities. As our business continue to develop and grow, we remain steadfast in our dedication to maintain this diversity, understanding that it is integral to our long-term success and competitive advantage. Further details on the Group's workforce diversity are set out under the section headed "B. Society" of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 49 to 57 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established an Audit Committee in September 1999 with written terms of reference (including but not limited to the duties as required under the Code Provisions of the Code), which are available on the Company's website (www.0759.com). The principal duties of the Audit Committee include but not limited to reviewing and overseeing the Group's financial reporting system, internal control procedures, risk management, internal and external audit functions and reviewing the Group's financial information.

Corporate Governance Report

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee is also primarily responsible for reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor. In general, the external auditor has to refrain from engaging in non-assurance services required by the Group except for limited tax-related services or specifically approved items. On 6 March 2023, the Audit Committee has adopted a Non-Assurance Services Concurrence Policy (the "NASCP") which sets out (i) the classification of services as pre-concurred (subject to pre-approved maximum fee amounts), not pre-concurred and prohibited; and (ii) the approval process for services and fee amounts that have not been pre-concurred.

The Audit Committee has received confirmation from and discussed with the Group's external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, on its independence and objectivity. During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Audit Committee reviewed PricewaterhouseCoopers's statutory audit scope and the fees paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers amounted to approximately HK\$2,180,000 for statutory audit services and approximately HK\$98,000 for non-audit services (comprising tax and other services) rendered to the Group.

The Audit Committee was satisfied with PricewaterhouseCoopers's work, its independence, objectivity, qualifications, expertise, resources and the effectiveness of the audit process. On 19 July 2024, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the external auditor of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2025 for shareholders' approval at the 2024 AGM.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Chiu Ying (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Goh Gen Cheung and Ms. Tsui Mei Ling, May. The chairman of the Audit Committee possesses the appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting, securities and corporate finance. The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the annual results of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2025.

Regular meetings have been held by the Audit Committee since its establishment. The Audit Committee meets at least twice in each financial year in accordance with its terms of reference. During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Audit Committee discharged its duties by reviewing the audit findings, risk management and internal control systems of the Group, internal audit plan and schedule, internal audit reports on the effectiveness of internal control of the Group, the financial reporting matters (including announcements, financial reports and accounts relating to the interim and annual results of the Company before submission to the Board for approval, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and compliance with relevant rules and regulations in respect thereof), approving the terms of engagement of the Company's external auditor and discussing with the Company's external auditor the nature and scope of the audit. Two post-meeting sessions with the external auditor in the absence of management of the Group were held during the year ended 30 April 2025.

Corporate Governance Report

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis covering all material controls, compassing financial, operational, compliance control and risk management. The systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, losses, errors, corruption and fraud.

To strengthen these systems, the Group continues to engage an external auditor to review, assess, and evaluate all the key areas of the Group's risk management, ESG-related risks and internal control systems to ensure that: —

- proper segregation of duties, risk management, ESG-related risks control and internal control systems have been established by the Group's management and are operating as intended;
- policies and procedures are in place to effectively safeguard the Group's assets from unauthorized use or improper disposition;
- all applicable laws, rules and regulations are fully complied with;
- the policies and systems supporting anti-corruption laws, regulations and code of practice for integrity management have been developed and are actively promoted;
- risk management, ESG related-risks control and internal control functions are properly integrated into the Group's daily operations;
- adequate measures, management practices, and control systems have been deployed to mitigate risks associated with corruption, fraud, irregularities, and financial or operational exposures;
- significant control weaknesses, audit findings and recommended improvements are promptly and directly reported to the Audit Committee; and
- A whistleblowing policy and system, overseen by the Audit Committee, allows employees
 and those who dealt with the Group with the channels to raise concerns confidentially and
 anonymously, regarding any potential improprieties in any matters related to the Group has
 been established.

During the year ended 30 April 2025, no significant risk management and internal control issues were identified. The Board continued to review the operational effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems through the Audit Committee, including the approval of annual internal audit plans and procedures, as well as assessing and reviewing quarterly internal audit reports to ensure that a sound and effective risk management and control environment have been installed into the Group.

Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group, which give a true and fair view and are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards with appropriate accounting policies applied on consistent basis, and ensuring the publication of the Group's financial statements in a timely manner.

The directors of the Company have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The Board endeavours to ensure a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group's performance and prospects in financial reporting.

The responsibilities of the Company's external auditor with respect to financial reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 58 to 62 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and is appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the procedures and activities of the Board and its committees as well as good communication flow among the Board members, shareholders and the senior management.

During the year ended 30 April 2025, Ms. Ho Wing Yi, the company secretary of the Company (the "Company Secretary"), undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to keep abreast of latest legislative and regulatory changes and to refresh her skills and knowledge.

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information, the Company is fully aware of its obligations under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and the Listing Rules. In December 2013, a policy was adopted by the Board which sets out guidelines to the directors, officers and all relevant employees of the Group to ensure that inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner.

Corporate Governance Report

INVESTOR RELATIONS, SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATIONS

A Shareholders Communication Policy was adopted in March 2012 to ensure that shareholders of the Company are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the Company. The policy is posted on the Company's website (www.0759.com) and is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has established different communication channels with its shareholders and the investors, including (i) the annual general meetings of the Company which provide a forum for its shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the Board; and (ii) updated company news and published announcements of the Group which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication between the Board and the shareholders of the Company. The chairmen and members of the Board and its committees, senior management and auditor of the Company are available to answer questions at the general meetings. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings to stay informed of the Company's businesses and communicate any concerns or inquiries they may have to the Board.

The Company arranges for the notice to its shareholders to be sent at least 20 clear business days before each of the annual general meetings of the Company. Separate resolutions are proposed at annual general meeting on each substantially separate issue, including the re-election of each individual director.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company, any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company on a one vote per share basis shall at all times have the right, by depositing a written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company at 2nd Floor, Hing Win Factory Building, 110 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. Any vote of shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. The chairman of meeting will explain the poll voting procedures at the relevant general meeting and answer any questions from shareholders on voting by poll.

The Board reviewed the Shareholders Communication Policy during the year ended 30 April 2025 and considered that it remained effective and was properly implemented given the various communication channels having been in place during the year as summarized in the above paragraphs.

The Board always welcomes shareholders' views and input. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries by addressing them to the Company Secretary by post to 2nd Floor, Hing Win Factory Building, 110 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong or by email at secretary@ceccoils.com.

Corporate Governance Report

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company's constitutional documents during the year ended 30 April 2025.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company endeavours to achieve sustainable business development and to generate stable long-term return on shareholders' investment. Subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations, the Company may declare dividend according to the recommendation of the Board. In deciding the Company's dividend distribution and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia, the Group's general financial condition, the Group's actual and future operations and liquidity position, the Group's expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans, general market conditions, as well as any restrictions on payment of dividends, other applicable laws and regulations, and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

CONTINUOUS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

The Board is committed to progressively reinforce its corporate governance including giving closer attention to any regulatory changes with a view to maintaining a corporate culture built on ethics and integrity and increasing shareholder value as a whole.

Standards and Scope of Reporting

This environmental, social and governance report ("this report") has been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix C2 "Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code" to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the "Listing Rules") on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").

This report presents the environmental, social and governance ("ESG") performance of the Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group", "we" or "our") during the reporting period from 1 May 2024 to 30 April 2025 (the "Reporting Period"). Based on the principle of materiality, this report mainly covers the retail business of the Group, with the same reporting scope as previous.

In preparing this report, the Group has followed the following four reporting principles:

Materiality The Group has ensured that this report covers key environmental, social and

governance issues which are of concern to different stakeholders and have a significant impact on the Group's business and operations, by conducting stakeholder engagement and materiality assessments. Details are set out in the

chapters on "Stakeholder Engagement" and "Materiality Assessment".

Quantitative Information on the criteria, methods, assumptions and/or calculation tools used

for the environmental and social KPIs disclosed in this report, and the sources of

conversion factors are set out in the notes following the relevant KPIs.

Balance We have endeavoured to disclose information in this report in an objective

manner so as to present an unbiased view of the Group's overall environmental,

social and governance performance.

Consistency Wherever practicable, the Group applies consistent reporting standards, data

collection and calculation methods to ensure that the information disclosed in this report can be meaningfully compared. Any changes that may affect

meaningful comparisons of KPIs are disclosed accordingly.

This report was reviewed and approved by the board of directors of the Company (the "Board") on 30 July 2025.

Commitment and Policy of the Board on Sustainable Development

Since the inception of 759 STORE in 2010, the Group has been implementing the policy of "Quick Turnover with Lower Margin" with an aim to serve local community, by sourcing varieties of food products and necessities of daily life from all over the world and offering high quality products at low prices to local neighbours. The Board believes that the promotion of sustainable development constitutes an integral part of the implementation of such business philosophy of 759 STORE, and is also the cornerstone of the development of the Group in the long run. The Board is responsible for assessing ESG related risks and opportunities, and formulating overall strategies and objectives therefor. We have included ESG issues in the agenda of regular Board meetings. The Board communicates with the Sustainability Working Group on a regular basis to monitor the progress of the Group's sustainable development and review the same in a timely manner. We identify and prioritize material issues by understanding the views of stakeholders and by reference to industry standard practices. The Board believes that, in order to achieve the objective of sustainable development, we have to rely on the combined efforts of each and every employee and business partner of the Group. Therefore, we are committed to incorporating sustainable development programs into our corporate day-to-day operations, to enable every employee to be engaged in practice, and to cultivate the Group's culture on the environmental and social sustainability through a top-down method and promote such culture within the Group and then outward to its business partners.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Sustainability Governance

With an effective sustainability governance framework, a company is enabled to formulate and implement appropriate sustainability strategies and objectives in the course of its business, manage reporting procedures, monitor progress and review results. The Board supervises the sustainable development of the Group in all respects and assumes the key responsibility to formulate policies and strategies in relation to sustainable development. Under the leadership of the Board, the Group has established a Sustainability Working Group, which is led by the executive directors of the Company (the "Directors") and comprises senior officers from various core departments, each with different professional backgrounds. The Sustainability Working Group is responsible for coordinating the sustainable development activities across the Group, including, among others, execution of the strategies set by the Board, implementation of relevant policies and measures, monitoring of the sustainable development performance of all departments and stakeholders engagement, and reports and makes recommendations to the Board on a regular basis.

Risk Management

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains a sound and effective risk management and internal control system covering all material controls, including financial, operational, compliance control and risk management. We have included ESG-related risks in the scope of such system controls.

Climate change is affecting people's health, society and economy in the world, with increasing risks and opportunities associated with it. The Group realized that the deteriorating extreme weather conditions due to climate change would, on the one hand, increase employees' safety risks and have an impact on the operations of local stores, transportation and so on; on the other hand, it would also increase the potential risk hindering or interrupting the supply chains. We have taken measures to reduce the related risks, which are summarised in the sections headed "Health and Safety" and "Supply Chain Management" in this report.

In the long run, governments in the world are accelerating the introduction of responsive policies to address climate change. In order to achieve the goal of "carbon neutrality" by 2050, the government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region ("Hong Kong") has also formulated the Climate Action Plan and actively implemented various environmental measures and related laws. Among which, the Producer Responsibility Scheme on Glass Beverage Containers, the first phase regulation of disposable plastic tableware and other plastic products were officially implemented in 2023 and 2024 respectively. The Group has provided appropriate guidelines and training to enable employees at all levels to understand the implementation details of the new measures as soon as possible and make joint efforts in promoting waste reduction at the source.

Looking forward, the Hong Kong Government will gradually implement the Producer Responsibility Scheme on Plastic Beverage Containers and Beverage Cartons and the second phase regulation of disposable plastic tableware and other plastic products. The Group will actively participate in the industry seminars on these schemes to prepare for supporting the implementation of such measures as soon as possible. We will keep closely monitoring the development of relevant policies and formulate strategies in a timely manner in response to the risks and opportunities arising therefrom.

Stakeholder Engagement

By maintaining communications with stakeholders and understanding their expectations and needs, we identify material ESG issues, and are well-aware of the related risks and opportunities, which are critical to the sustainable development of the Group. In our daily operations, we collect views and comments from stakeholders through various channels. Our major stakeholders, communication channels and their concerns are set out below:

Major Stakeholders	Communication Channels	Concerns
Customers	Retail outletsService hotlines and emailsSocial media platforms	Product quality and safetyCustomer servicePersonal data and privacy protection
Employees	 Induction and on-job training Team meeting Internal email and instant messaging platform Staff activities 	Occupational safety and healthDevelopment and trainingRemuneration and benefits
Suppliers and business partners	 Interviews and virtual meetings Regular email or telephone communication On-site inspection Supplier evaluation 	Stable business partnershipsFair trading termsBusiness integrity
Community	Community investmentSponsorship and donationsSocial media platform/email	• Environment protection
Government and regulatory authorities	Regular industry conferencesEmail communication	Food safetyEnvironment protection
Shareholders and investors	 General meetings of shareholders Financial reports, circulars and announcements Email communication Disclosure of information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company 	 Financial performance Return on investment Information disclosure and transparency

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Materiality Assessment

By assessing the materiality of ESG issues, a company formulates its objectives focusing on material areas and dedicating more resources in those areas with priority, which is critical to making great progress in promoting sustainable development. According to the opinions collected from stakeholder engagement, and after assessing the impact on and relevance of such issues to the business of the Group, we have identified the following areas that should be developed in priority:

Environment	Employees	Product Responsibility	Community Participation
 Wastes Management Use of Packaging Materials Energy Conservation Greenhouse Gas Emission 	Health and SafetyDevelopment and Training	 Product Safety and Quality Personal Data and Privacy Protection Complaints about products and services 	Supporting the Community

A. ENVIRONMENT

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection. We apply measures such as energy conservation and pollution prevention in our daily operation, and we strive to maintain the sustainable development of the environment in the course of our business development.

The Group is committed to complying with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection. Main applicable laws include the Product Eco-responsibility Ordinance (Cap. 603 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Air Pollution Control (Volatile Organic Compounds) Regulation (Cap. 311W of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group ensures that all employees abide by relevant laws and regulations during business operation by updating system procedures, formulating relevant working guidelines and providing staff trainings. The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with any laws and regulations in relation to the environment protection during the Reporting Period.

Waste Management

We understand the importance of reducing wastes at the source, and we make the effort to reduce the wastes produced during the process of operation that need to be disposed of. By continuously optimising the information system, we strive to reduce the difference between procurement and market demands. Besides, for the products not selling well or close to expiry dates, we offer concessionary clearance prices which attract customers to buy so as to reduce wastage of food. As for a small quantity of products with damaged packaging, we donate them to the needy through the food sharing project of the New Life Psychiatric Rehabilitation Association.

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Waste Management (continued)

In addition, wastes such as waste paper, packing wrap and toner cartridges are produced during the process of retail business operation. We manage these wastes based on the principle of "in first reducing, in second reusing and in third recycling". During the Reporting Period, the Group has adopted the following measures:

- Encourage the staff to use electronic document for circulation and record to reduce printing
- Display reminders on all printers and copiers to remind the staff to save paper
- Encourage the staff to use double-sided printing as much as possible
- Reuse some of the furniture and equipment during shop renovation
- Do best to repair broken cash registers or recycle parts to reduce wastes
- Send the used/unuseful paper cartons to recycling stations
- Recycle toner cartridges

In addition, we continue to promote online training and assessment, and make short videos on the selected training topics, to continuously provide employees with necessary trainings through online systems. In the long run, proper use of online training not only improves work efficiency of relevant departments, but also reduces the paper consumption for printing training materials.

During the Reporting Period, the total amount of non-hazardous wastes produced during our daily operation abovementioned that need to be disposed of was approximately 74 tonnes (2024: 74 tonnes), with the intensity of 0.0017 tonnes per square meter of floor area (2024: 0.0016 tonnes/m²). No hazardous waste was produced during the operation process. We study and take different methods to treat wastes taking into account the need of community and feasible solutions according to the type of wastes. In the future, we will continue to improve waste data collection, evaluate and disclose relevant information, and gradually set appropriate targets on waste reduction according to the actual situation.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Packaging Materials

Plastic bags are also one of the resources mainly consumed in the retail business. Following the implementation of the enhanced Plastic Shopping Bag Charging Scheme at the end of 2022, there was a notable increase in the proportion of customers bringing their own shopping bags, reaching 94% during the Reporting Period (2024: 93%). We continue to rigorously enforce the plastic shopping bag levy scheme and is enhancing training for frontline staff to more effectively encourage customers to adopt reusable shopping bags. This initiative is part of our broader commitment to environmental sustainability and promoting responsible consumer behaviors.

Moreover, since the range of products sold by 759 STORE includes relatively heavy items such as rice and beverages, packaging wraps are used for transporting goods in order to ensure the safety of employees and passers-by. Since June 2021, we began a plastic wrap recycling program in cooperation with recycling entities in the community. During the Reporting Period, a total of approximately 0.1 tonnes (2024: 0.3 tonnes) of plastic wraps were recycled. In the future, we will continue to maintain close communication with the entities in the community to consider extending the recycling to other areas, if appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the above-mentioned plastic materials for packaging amounted to approximately 57 tonnes (2024: 60 tonnes), with a consumption intensity of approximately 0.0013 tonnes per square meter of floor area (2024: 0.0013 tonnes/m²), which was similar to that for the same period of last year. We will make efforts to research on methods to reduce the consumption of packaging materials during business operations.

Energy Conservation

Saving energy consumption can bring dual benefits to a company in both environmental and economical aspects. The main energy consumed by the Group was purchased electricity, of which more than 80% was used for the operation of retail outlets. Therefore, we have been focusing on implementing energy-saving measures in our outlets, including:

- Adopting LED lightings instead of traditional halogen spotlights or fluorescent tubes. We have discontinued the purchase of traditional halogen spotlights and fluorescent tubes. At present, more than 90% of our shops have fully adopted LED lightings as their lighting systems.
- For the design of new shops, we have replaced the previously used upright display refrigerators with more energy-efficient chest freezers. We will also explore the feasibility of use of chest freezers according to shop conditions, such as area and shape of the shop, during the renovation of existing shops.
- Joining the "Charter on External Lighting" launched by the Environment and Ecology Bureau, with commitment to switch off lighting installations for decorative, promotional or advertising purposes which affect the outdoor environment during the preset time to minimize light nuisance and energy wastage.

A. **ENVIRONMENT** (continued)

Energy Conservation (continued)

 Responding to the invitation of shopping malls which have participated in the Environment and Ecology Bureau's "Energy Saving Charter" and committing to maintaining an average indoor temperature of 24 to 26 degrees Celcius, so as to reduce power consumption.

The total energy consumption during the Reporting Period is as follows:

	Unit	2025	2024
Fuel Consumption	litres	117,480	120,284
*	kWh	21,056,000	′
Power Consumption		, ,	21,969,000
Power Consumption Intensity (by	kWh per square meter	476	485
total area of retail space and			
distribution centres)			

In the future, the Group will aim to ensure that power consumption is in line with business development, and will continue to work closely with related equipment and power supply partners to actively explore more feasible energy-saving or renewable energy solutions, so as to achieve the effective use of energies.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

The exhaust gas emissions generated by the Group's retail business are mainly from the Group's transportation fleet, which is responsible for the distribution and transportation of goods to 168 (2024: 165) outlets of 759 STORE. All pre-Euro V diesel engine trucks were phased out before October 2020. To reduce exhaust gas emissions, we have implemented the following measures, including: regular maintenance and cleaning of vehicles and the requirement that the drivers must turn off the ignition when vehicles are parked in the parking lots. We equipped all trucks with GPS system to encourage drivers to adopt environment-friendly driving practices by monitoring vehicle speed and engine idling while enhancing operational efficiency.

During the Reporting Period, the total fuel consumption of the retail business was approximately 117,480 liters (2024: 120,284 liters), and the nitrogen oxides (NO_x)¹, sulfur oxides (SO_x) and particulate matter¹ emitted were 682,507 grams (2024: 742,978 grams), 1,883 grams (2024: 1,951 grams) and 23,513 grams (2024: 23,590 grams), respectively. In the future, we will continue to monitor the changes of these data with an aim to ensure that fuel consumption is in line with business development. We will continuously research the application of new technologies to improve the efficiency of logistics and take effective measures as appropriate to improve fuel consumption efficiency and reduce emissions of exhaust gas. We will also keep reviewing our policy on outsourcing logistic companies and release relevant emission data as appropriate.

The emission factor is calculated with reference to the EMFAC-HK Vehicle Emission Calculation of the Environmental Protection Department and assuming a relative humidity of 80%, a temperature of 25 degrees Celsius, and an average driving speed of 30 kilometers per hour.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group's total greenhouse gas emissions were $9,100~tCO_2e$ (2024: $9,845~tCO_2e$), representing a decrease of approximately 7.6% as compared with that of last year, which were mainly derived from the purchased electricity within scope 2 (see below), accounting for approximately 95% (2024: 96%) of total emissions. During the Reporting Period, the Group's indirect emissions of energy decreased by approximately 7.9% to 8,671 tCO_2e (2024: 9,419 tCO_2e) as compared with that of last year.

The amount of greenhouse gas emitted by us during the Reporting Period is shown in the following table:

	Unit	2025	2024
Scope 1 – Direct Emissions	tCO ₂ e	306	312
Scope 2 – Indirect Emissions of Energy ²	tCO ₂ e	8,671	9,419
Scope 3 – Other Indirect Emissions ³	tCO ₂ e	124	114
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions	tCO ₂ e	9,100	9,845
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Intensity (by	tCO ₂ e per square meter	0.21	0.22
total area of retail space and distribution	-		
centres)			

The emission factor for purchased electricity came from CLP Power Hong Kong Limited and The Hongkong Electric Company Limited.

In the future, the Group will endeavour to promote energy conservation measures (see "Energy Conservation" above) to manage our carbon footprint in a responsible manner. We will continue to improve data collection, keep evaluating and disclosing relevant information, and gradually set appropriate targets to reduce emissions according to the actual situation.

Other indirect emissions are calculated with reference to "How to Prepare an ESG Report? – Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange, including indirect emissions generated by the waste paper disposed of and the electricity consumed by government departments to treat water and sewage.

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Reducing Impacts on the Environment

We will adopt any practical measures to minimise the influence of business operations on the natural environment.

A number of studies have indicated that micro-plastics had potential negative influence on the marine environment as well as on human health. Some of the micro-plastics come from personal care and cosmetics products with cleaning and scrubbing purposes. As such, we responded to the call of the environmental protection organization, Greenpeace, at the beginning of 2017, and committed to terminating the procurement of products that contain micro-plastics. We have also participated in the Bye Bye Microbeads Charter promoted by the Environmental Protection Department.

Water Resource

The retail business of the Group is not an industry which uses water intensively. Water resources are mainly used for the cleaning of shops, warehouses and offices as well as for personal hygiene of employees. Since water resource is an increasing global concern, we have displayed posters in workplaces to remind employees to save water and minimise waste. During the Reporting Period, the total water consumption of our retail business was 7,034 m³ (2024: 5,028 m³), with the intensity of 0.16 m³ per square meter of floor area (2024: 0.11 m³/m²). We will continuously monitor changes in this data and take measures to maintain water consumption efficiency when appropriate. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not encounter any problems in sourcing water. Due to low water consumption of the Group, there is no plan to set a target for reduction of water consumption. If our business model changes in the future and involves a significant increase in water consumption, the Group will further evaluate the necessity of setting a target.

B. SOCIETY

Our Personnel

The Group is an equal opportunity employer, and all employment-related decisions such as recruitment or promotion are made based on individual performance and qualification. We strive to create a diversified working environment without discrimination against gender, age, marital status, pregnancy, disability, family status and race. The Employees' Handbook stipulates our personnel system covering various aspects including recruitment, promotion, dismissal, compensation, commission, working hours, rest periods and other benefits so that employees at all levels can understand the employment policy of the Company.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. **SOCIETY** (continued)

Our Personnel (continued)

The management also regularly reviews the compliance of the Group's subsidiaries with local labour laws and regulations, and strengthens the relevant management personnel's understanding of these laws and regulations through external trainings in order to ensure fair and just treatments of labour practices among the workforce. The labour laws applicable to the retail business of the Group mainly include the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Employees' Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

As at 30 April 2025, a total of 839 employees (2024: 821) were employed for the retail business of the Group. The number of our employees by gender, age group, region and employment type is listed below:

	2025	2024
By gender		
Female	591	564
Male	248	257
By age		
40 years old or below	303	321
Over 40 years old	536	500
By region		
Mainland China and Hong Kong	839	821
By employment type		
Full-time	753	729
Part-time	86	92

B. **SOCIETY** (continued)

Our Personnel (continued)

The Group deeply believes that employees are the most valuable asset of an enterprise and regards human resources as its corporate wealth. The management reviews the remuneration packages of the Group regularly to ensure that they meet the current standards of the market and are attractive for the retention of employees. During the Reporting Period, the average monthly turnover rate¹ of employees was 4.9% (2024: 4.5%), similar to that of the previous year. The average monthly turnover rate of our employees by gender, age group, region and employment type is as follows:

	2025	2024
By gender		
Female	5.2%	4.7%
Male	4.2%	4.0%
By age		
40 years old or below	7.0%	6.5%
Over 40 years old	3.8%	3.2%
By region		
Mainland China and Hong Kong	4.9%	4.5%
By employment type		
Full-time	4.5%	3.5%
Part-time	8.4%	11.1%

The "Average Monthly Turnover Rate" refers to the average of turnover rate each month during the Reporting Period, namely the number of employees in each employee group leaving the Company each month divided by the total number of employees in that employee group at the end of the month. The leaving employees include those who leave the Company voluntarily or due to dismissal, retirement or death in service.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to safeguarding the health and safety of the employees. We develop corresponding guidelines with respect to work safety, occupational health and emergency handling. We ensure that employees comply with such guidelines, and regularly provide occupational safety education and training sessions to the employees to enhance their awareness of safety.

In response to the extreme weather events which come more serious with the climate change, we turn the emergency handling procedure into topical guideline, and regularly review and update its content, timely incorporating various situations that may be caused by extreme weather events, such as flooding. Such guidelines have been included in the designated training programs, and regular trainings will be conducted through the online system to ensure that all employees maintain a high level of contingency awareness at all times.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. **SOCIETY** (continued)

Health and Safety (continued)

For each work-related injury, a task force will be responsible for investigating the cause of the accident, proposing and implementing improvement plans and preventive measures such as updating work safety guidelines and upgrading equipment.

We also continuously review and improve the environment, facilities and staff equipment of the workplace to ensure that the requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Fire Safety (Buildings) Ordinance (Cap. 572 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Fire Safety (Commercial Premises) Ordinance (Cap. 502 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are complied with. We have implemented various measures, for instance:

- Equipping with sufficient fire-fighting devices, such as automatic sprinkler systems, fire extinguishers and emergency lights, and conducting regular fire safety inspections to ensure that all devices function properly.
- Equipping with first aid kits for employees to provide emergency medical assistance in the event of an injury.
- Providing seats to frontline staff to prevent lower limb disorders.

In order to ensure that all shops strictly implement a series of work guidelines and safety rules formulated by the Company, regional managers frequently visit shops to supervise and guide frontline staff. In addition, as part of the risk management and internal control system, external auditors also inspect shops regularly on a random basis, inspect working environment and its facilities and monitor the implementation of occupational safety and health as well as report to the Board periodically, so as to minimize any potential safety risks to protect the health and safety of employees and customers.

Furthermore, the Group will continue to provide employees with necessary protective equipment and cleaning and disinfection supplies to protect the health of employees, and ensure the cleanliness of all shops and workplaces.

During the past three Reporting Periods, there were no work-related fatalities within the Group. During the Reporting Period, there were no material non-compliance with the laws and regulations in relation to health and safety within the Group, and the number of days lost due to work-related injuries was 498 days (2024: 838 days), with the ratio of lost days² of 0.24% (2024: 0.40%).

The "Ratio of Lost Days" refers to the percentage of sick leave days due to work-related injuries to the number of scheduled working days of all employees during the Reporting Period.

B. SOCIETY (continued)

Development and Training

The Group places great importance on the development of talents. We actively promote on-the-job trainings for the employees at all levels, who are recommended to participate in various training courses, forums and seminars. During the Reporting Period, our staff participated in trainings covering areas such as food safety, occupational safety and health, human resources management, retail technology application, big data analyzing, network safety, artificial intelligence and other information technologies as well as sustainable development, with an aim to enhance their knowledge and working skills, and in turn they can create competitive advantages together with the Group. We also provide the employees with different levels of educational subsidies, and encourage them to participate in continuing education and practice life-long learning, so as to achieve continuous self-development.

In addition to participating in external courses, we also provide new recruit and on-the-job trainings for employees at all levels, covering the topics such as shop operation procedures, customer communication skills, work safety and health. Furthermore, managers also visit shops to provide guidance to frontline employees on a regular basis. We will continue to implement our training programs in a more flexible manner. On the one hand, the face-to-face training with more interactions will resume; on the other hand, we will also continue to promote online training and assessment, and make short videos as suitable training topics to continuously provide trainings for employees through the online systems.

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively enhanced training for its employees. The ratio of employees trained³ of the retail business was 87% (2024: 90%), and the average training hours per employee⁴ was 1 hour (2024: 1.5 hour). The training statistics by gender and employee type are set out below:

	2025		2024	1	
		Average		Average	
	Ratio of	Training	Ratio of	Training	
	Employees	Hours	Employees	Hours	
	Trained	(Hours)	Trained	(Hours)	
By gender					
Female	88%	0.9	92%	1.0	
Male	83%	1.3	87%	2.5	
By employee type					
Senior management	63%	8.2	79%	14.4	
Middle management	70%	2.2	92%	5.4	
General staff	88%	0.8	90%	1.0	

The "Ratio of Employees Trained" is the percentage of the number of employees who participated in trainings during the Reporting Period to the total number of employees who served the Group during the Reporting Period.

The "Average training hours per employee" is calculated by dividing the total training hours during the Reporting Period by the total number of employees who served the Group during the Reporting Period.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. **SOCIETY** (continued)

Labour Standards

The Group highly values and strictly abides by all the applicable laws and regulations of its locations of operation, including Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and prohibits the use of child labour and forced or compulsory labour at all its business units. During the recruitment process, the human resources department will examine the proof of identity of applicants to ensure that they have reached the legal working age, and that relevant measures are effectively implemented through regular internal audits. In addition, the Employees' Handbook set out and has communicated the policies on overtime work, rest periods and so on. to each and every employee. We also have a whistle-blowing system for anyone, including employees, to complain and report any non-compliance.

The Group absolutely does not tolerate the use of child or forced labour in the supply chain. Once any use of child or forced labour by our suppliers is identified, we will terminate the cooperation with them immediately. During the Reporting Period, no employee is forced to work against his/her will or work as forced labour, or suffers corporal punishment or coercion of any type related to work.

Product Responsibility

Product Safety and Quality

The Group places great importance on product safety and quality, as it is directly related to the lives and health of customers. We have established a quality management system and obtained the ISO9001 certification. Detailed work procedures and guidelines have been developed with respect to the monitoring of product quality, verification of product labels and handling of complaints. A dedicated quality assurance department is responsible for the implementation of such procedures accordingly in order to ensure the compliance of the products with the requirements of applicable laws, including the Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Consumer Goods Safety Ordinance (Cap. 456 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

We take every customer's feedback seriously. We have established a number of different channels to collect customers' opinions, suggestions and complaints, including social platforms, emails and service hotlines. For each formal complaint, the Quality Assurance Department conducts a formal investigation, tracks and analyzes the root cause of the issue jointly with suppliers, and formulates response strategies. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material complaint about products and services. All customer comments and enquiries have been properly handled and followed up in accordance with the established handling mechanism.

The business of 759 STORE focuses on operations in retailing food and beverages such as snacks and food groceries. As such, we will pay close attention to the food alerts released by the Centre for Food Safety, research reports from the Consumer Council as well as to relevant market information, which will be immediately followed with responsive action.

B. SOCIETY (continued)

Product Responsibility (continued)

Product Safety and Quality (continued)

As long as we confirm that a certain batch of products are involved with quality and safety issues and must be recalled, we will fully cooperate with the regulatory authorities and, as soon as practicable, withdraw the relevant products from the shelves according to their instructions, announce the recall arrangement and treat the recalled items properly. During the Reporting Period, no product of the Group is required to be recalled due to safety and health issues.

Personal Data Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of protecting the personal data of customers. A privacy policy is in place to ensure that the collection, use, retention and access of personal data during the course of business are in conformity with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The requirements include, among others, obtaining customers' consent prior to data collection, ensuring the data be used only for the purpose for which it has been collected and retaining the data no longer than necessary. The policy is published on the website of 759 STORE.

In respect of confidentiality of data, all employees are required to strictly observe the data confidentiality policy of the Group according to the terms of employment. Relevant procedures are in place to provide employees at all levels with clear and specific guidelines in relation to the authority of access to confidential and sensitive information and its processing procedures such as transmission, storage and destruction. Managers visit the work sites to monitor the implementation of such guidelines on a regular basis. Any employee who breaches such policies and guidelines will be subject to serious consequences, including, among others, termination of employment and legal actions against any party involved. In addition, computer system and firewall are also updated regularly to fend off any potential hacking attacks.

Advertising

759 STORE provides customers with the latest discount and product information through various channels such as shop posters, official websites and social platforms. When preparing promotional materials, we strive to use clear and unequivocal designs and expressions, and convey important terms and information as accurately as possible to avoid misunderstandings by customers. All information is checked by a dedicated team to ensure that the content be accurate and complete and comply with the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. **SOCIETY** (continued)

Product Responsibility (continued)

Intellectual Property Rights

We respect the intellectual property rights of others and ensure the compliance with applicable laws, including the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap. 559 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and we also strive to protect our rights and interests from infringement. The Employees' Handbook sets out the guidelines that require employees not to infringe intellectual property rights of any third party, such as use of software and quoting source of information etc. We also protect our trade marks and other intellectual property rights by registering trade marks and taking legal actions as and when necessary.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations concerning the health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy of its products and services that have a significant impact on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

With respect to the supply chain, 759 STORE adopts a self-import model where most suppliers are overseas producers, farms and large wholesalers. The Group upholds the principle of fair competition, focuses on maintaining with the suppliers a long-term relationship of mutual benefits. The Group has an open and transparent procurement management procedure, which is included in the ISO9001 quality system certification and is audited by a third-party institution regularly. All new suppliers must be recognized by the established supplier assessment system according to the criteria in relation to product quality, product safety and supplier scale etc., and also with reference to local regulations and applicable international standards. As for all existing suppliers, we conduct regular assessment based on their past performance in customer satisfaction with their products, their popularity, previous quality, whether there have been any quality problems and the corrective measures taken etc.

We endeavour to purchase goods in an ethical and responsible manner. With regard to various environmental and social risks (e.g. sustainable food ingredients and labour standards), we actively maintain close communication with the suppliers to mutually ensure the sustainable development of our business. From January 2021, an ethical procurement policy was in place and adopted as a basis of selecting suppliers and purchasing goods, which contained, among others, prohibition from use of child and forced labour, compliance with the standards of minimum labor remuneration and benefits, provision of safe working conditions, and compliance with the international standards of environmental protection. Relevant personnel will meet with suppliers on a regular basis and arrange site visits to evaluate and ensure that suppliers and their products comply with the above criteria.

Due to climate change, the potential risk that hinders or interrupts the supply chains in several regions is increasing. In order to offset this risk, 759 STORE is committed to searching sources of goods from different locations, with the current procurement network covering 60 countries and regions, doing best to diversify the impact on supply from extreme weather or serious accidents caused thereby in a single region. During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 209 major suppliers, of which 124 suppliers were from overseas and 85 were from Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan regions of China.

B. **SOCIETY** (continued)

Anti-corruption

The Group deeply believes that honesty, integrity and fairness are important assets of an enterprise. The Group has established code of practice for integrity management (as set out in the Employees' Handbook), which sets out all the basic disciplinary standards with respect to compliance with The Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the avoidance of conflict of interests and the handling of confidential information, that all directors and employees must abide by, as well as the guidelines with respect to the responses to various situations encountered during the performance of their duties. The human resources department will arrange for each director and employee to receive relevant training. The code also includes a whistle-blowing procedure which provides the employees with the channels for inquiry and reporting of any suspected violations. In addition, we will also review and improve the monitoring system on an on-going basis to prevent our staff from committing fraudulent act during the operation process.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations, and there was no litigation regarding bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering brought against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

The Group demonstrates its commitment to corporate citizenship through multifaceted community engagement initiatives. We actively encourage our employees to participate in social welfare activities, promoting both their physical and mental well-being while fostering a balanced approach to personal development. Our community outreach program extends beyond internal engagement, encompassing partnerships with a diverse array of non-profit organizations serving disadvantaged communities, religious groups, and educational institutions. Through these collaborations, we strive to make meaningful contributions across various sectors of society, with a particular focus on poverty alleviation and support to youth education. This comprehensive approach allows us to leverage our resources and expertise to address pressing social issues and create lasting positive impact in the communities where we operate.

During the Reporting Period, the Group demonstrated its commitment to educational advancement and community support through targeted giving efforts. For instance, we provided scholarships for an international exchange program facilitated by the Vocational Training Council (VTC). This program aims to enrich students' educational journeys by providing immersive cross-cultural experiences and fostering global perspectives. By supporting this initiative, we hope to cultivate well-rounded and internationally aware cohort of future professionals.

Alongside with our educational endeavours, the Group extended its community outreach efforts to address immediate societal needs. Recognizing the challenges faced by grassroots people, we donated approximately 9,000 packs of rice to individuals and families in need. We distribute the rice through cooperation with various community organizations, ensuring it is efficiently delivered to those most in need, in an effort to alleviate the daily needs of grassroots citizens.

Independent Auditor's Report



羅兵咸永道

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CEC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of CEC International Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group"), which are set out on pages 63 to 131, comprise:

- the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2025;
- the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
- the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independent Auditor's Report

Basis for Opinion (continued)

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue recognition of retail business.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition of retail business

Refer to note 5 for the Group's accounting policies on revenue recognition and the analysis of the Group's revenue for the year ended 30 April 2025.

The Group recognised revenue of HK\$1,394 million from the retail business for the year ended 30 April 2025.

We focused in particular on the recognition of revenue of the retail business due to its magnitude and the nature of the industry. The revenue amount consisted of a high volume of small amount transactions recorded through a number of systems. Errors arising from capturing of data or interfaces amongst the various systems may have a significant impact on the retail revenue. Therefore, it required significant time and resources to audit.

We understood, evaluated and validated management's key internal controls in its revenue recognition process related to retail business.

We involved Information Technology specialists to evaluate the design of the relevant controls (including automated controls) over revenue recognition and tested the operating effectiveness of those controls.

We performed disaggregated analytics on revenue by various metrics year-on-year.

We tested samples of sales transactions by tracing to bank receipts and the underlying records.

We tested samples of journal entries posted to revenue accounts selected based on risk-based criteria.

We found the sales transactions related to the retail business were supported by appropriate evidence.

Independent Auditor's Report

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor's Report

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Independent Auditor's Report

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Lai Pui Ling, Sandra (practising certificate number: P05146).

PricewaterhouseCoopersCertified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 July 2025

Consolidated Income Statement

For the year ended 30 April 2025

	Note	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Revenue	5	1,444,391	1,469,606
Cost of sales	7	(885,934)	(890,218)
Gross profit		558,457	579,388
Other gains/(losses), net	6	2,526	(2,315)
Selling and distribution expenses	7	(462,126)	(466,956)
General and administrative expenses	7	(128,323)	(129,934)
Operating loss		(29,466)	(19,817)
Finance income Finance costs		2,549 (15,032)	4,553 (14,988)
Finance costs, net	9	(12,483)	(10,435)
Loss before income tax		(41,949)	(30,252)
Income tax (expense)/credit	10	(1,882)	440
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company		(43,831)	(29,812)
Loss per share, basic and diluted, attributable to equity holders of the Company	11	HK6.58 cents	HK4.47 cents

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 April 2025

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Loss for the year	(43,831)	(29,812)
Other comprehensive loss		
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss		
Change in fair value of equity investments at fair value		
through other comprehensive income	(14)	(44)
Items that have been/may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss		
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration of a subsidiary	(3,862)	_
Currency translation differences	(3,035)	(6,034)
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to equity		
holders of the Company	(50,742)	(35,890)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 April 2025

	Note	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
	INOLE	11K\$ 000	1110,000
ASSETS			
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	13	282,078	301,686
Right-of-use assets	14	191,988	231,912
Investment properties	15	15,630	17,115
Financial assets at fair value through other		,,,,,,	., -
comprehensive income	16	48	62
Rental deposits	17	29,659	32,309
Deferred tax assets	18	5,066	6,792
		524,469	589,876
Current assets			
Inventories	19	159,213	151,303
Accounts receivable	20	11,446	11,176
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables	17	40,240	41,088
Pledged bank balances	21	21,440	21,440
Cash and cash equivalents	21	56,734	71,422
		289,073	296,429
Total assets	_	813,542	886,305
EQUITY			
Share capital	22	66,619	66,619
Reserves	23	373,630	424,372
16361163	25	313,030	121,312
Total equity		440,249	490,991
1 /		,	

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 April 2025

	Note	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
LIABILITIES			
Non-current liabilities			
Lease liabilities	14	65,735	89,562
Deferred tax liabilities	18	7,902	7,902
Accruals and other payables	26	9,171	9,151
Borrowings	24	472	1,558
		83,280	108,173
Current liabilities			
Lease liabilities	14	117,103	136,708
Borrowings	24	30,384	24,655
Accounts payable	25	96,067	77,936
Accruals and other payables	26	46,459	47,842
		290,013	287,141
Total liabilities		373,293	395,314
Total equity and liabilities		813,542	886,305

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 July 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

Tang Fung Kwan
Director

Lam Kwok Chung
Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity For the year ended 30 April 2025

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

	111111111111111111111111111111111111111	quity notucis of th	e company
	Share capital (Note 22) HK\$'000	Reserves (Note 23) HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Balance at 1 May 2023	66,619	466,924	533,543
Loss for the year Other comprehensive loss: Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive	-	(29,812)	(29,812)
income	_	(44)	(44)
Currency translation differences		(6,034)	(6,034)
Total comprehensive loss		(35,890)	(35,890)
Dividend paid		(6,662)	(6,662)
Balance at 30 April 2024	66,619	424,372	490,991
Balance at 1 May 2024	66,619	424,372	490,991
Loss for the year Other comprehensive loss: Change in fair value of financial assets at	-	(43,831)	(43,831)
fair value through other comprehensive income		(14)	(14)
Currency translation differences	_	(3,035)	(3,035)
Release of exchange reserve upon		(3,033)	(5,055)
deregistration of a subsidiary	_	(3,862)	(3,862)
Total comprehensive loss	_	(50,742)	(50,742)
Balance at 30 April 2025	66,619	373,630	440,249

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 30 April 2025

	Note	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Cash flows from operating activities			
Cash generated from operations	27(a)	166,724	168,603
Hong Kong profits tax paid	27 (0)	-	(7,459)
Overseas tax paid		(156)	(214)
·			
Net cash generated from operating activities		166,568	160,930
Cash flows from an investing activity			
Purchases of property, plant and equipment		(6,833)	(12,212)
Net cash used in an investing activity		(6,833)	(12,212)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from borrowings		118,517	46,403
Repayments of borrowings		(113,874)	(23,707)
Interest received		997	1,485
Interest paid		(1,751)	(605)
Principal element of lease payments		(164,804)	(165,712)
Interest element of lease payments		(13,377)	(14,215)
Dividend paid		-	(6,662)
Net cash used in financing activities		(174,292)	(163,013)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents		(14,557)	(14,295)
Exchange difference		(131)	(305)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the ye	ar	71,422	86,022
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	21	56,734	71,422

Notes to the Financial Statements

1 General information

CEC International Holdings Limited (the "Company") is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) retail of food and beverage, household and personal care products ("retail business"), (ii) design, development, manufacture and sale of a wide range of coils, ferrite powder and other electronic components ("electronic components manufacturing"), and (iii) investment property holding. The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as "the Group" in the consolidated financial statements.

The Company is incorporated as an exempted company in Bermuda with limited liability. The address of its registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") since 1999. Its immediate holding company and ultimate holding company are Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited and Ka Yan China Investments Limited, respectively, both incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The Company is ultimately controlled by Mr. Lam Kwok Chung, an executive director of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong dollars ("HK\$'000"), unless otherwise stated.

2 Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment properties and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

Notes to the Financial Statements

- 2 Basis of preparation (continued)
 - (a) Certain amendments to existing standards and interpretation adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments to existing standards and interpretation for the first time for its annual reporting period commencing 1 May 2024:

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liabilities in a Sale and Leaseback

HK-Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments)

The amendments to existing standards and interpretation listed above did not have any material impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

(b) Certain new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretation issued but not yet adopted

The following new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretation have been issued but are not effective for the financial year beginning on or after 1 May 2024 and have not been early adopted:

HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability (1) (Amendments)

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement (Amendments) of Financial Instruments (2)

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting

9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 Standards – Volume 11 (2) (Amendments)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (3) HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:

Disclosures (3)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial (Amendments) Statements – Classification by the Borrower of a

Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand

Clause (3)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor (Amendments) and its Associate or Joint Venture (4)

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1 May 2025

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1 May 2026

Effective for the Group for annual period beginning on 1 May 2027

⁽⁴⁾ Effective date to be determined

The Group will adopt the above new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretation when they become effective. The Group is in the process of assessing the related impact of adopting the above new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretation.

Notes to the Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest-rate risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The Group regularly monitors its exposure and currently considers not necessary to hedge any of these financial risks.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the Group's entities.

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China with sales transactions being denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi ("RMB") and United States dollars. The Group's purchases were mainly settled in Hong Kong dollars, RMB, United States dollars, Japanese Yen ("JPY") and Euro ("EUR").

As at 30 April 2025, if Hong Kong dollars had strengthened/weakened by 2% (2024: 3%) against RMB with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been approximately HK\$1,238,000 higher/lower (2024: HK\$1,972,000), mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on the translation of RMB denominated assets.

As Hong Kong dollars are pegged with United States dollars, the Group considers the foreign exchange risk arisen from United States dollars is low.

As at 30 April 2025, if Hong Kong dollars had strengthened/weakened by 9% (2024: 13%) against JPY with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been approximately HK\$3,238,000 lower/higher (2024: HK\$1,902,000), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of JPY denominated payables.

As at 30 April 2025, if Hong Kong dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2024: 3%) against EUR with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been approximately HK\$452,000 lower/higher (2024: HK\$112,000), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of EUR denominated payables.

Notes to the Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The Group's financial assets mainly comprise accounts receivable, deposits, other receivables and bank balances. The amounts of those assets stated in the consolidated statement of financial position represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

(i) Risk management

The Group's credit risk is concentrated on a number of major and long established customers in relation to the electronic components manufacturing business. Sales to the top five customers accounted for approximately 41% (2024: 35%) of the Group's segment sales in relation to the electronic components manufacturing business. The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with appropriate credit history and to limit the amount of credit exposure to individual customer. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual accounts receivable at each reporting date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group's past experience in collection of accounts receivable falls within the recorded allowances. For retail business, transactions are mainly settled in cash or other form of electronic monies and therefore management do not anticipate significant credit risk.

The credit risk on cash at banks and pledged bank balances is limited because the counterparties are major financial institutions located in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

The Company has no significant exposure to credit risk because the Company's assets are mainly relating to balances with subsidiaries.

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

- (b) Credit risk (continued)
 - (ii) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss ("ECL") model:

- Accounts receivable
- Deposit and other receivables
- Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank balances

While cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank balances are also subject to the impairment of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss is immaterial, as all of the Group's bank deposits were placed with major financial institutions incorporated in Hong Kong and PRC, which management believes are of high-credit-quality without significant credit risk.

Accounts receivable

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, accounts receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the past repayment history and the historical credit loss experience. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

Notes to the Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continued)

- 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
 - (b) Credit risk (continued)
 - (ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 30 April 2025 and 2024 was determined as follows for accounts receivable:

		Overdue	Overdue	Overdue	Overdue by 91	Overdue	Overdue	
	Current HK\$'000	by 1-30 days HK\$'000	by 31-60 days HK\$'000	by 61-90 days HK\$'000	days- 1 year HK\$'000	by 1-2 years HK\$'000	by over 2 years HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 30 April 2025 Expected loss rate Gross carrying amount-Accounts	-	2.6%	2.9%	3.0%	65.6%	100.0%	100.0%	
receivable	9,440	963	441	266	1,112	167	1,993	14,382
Loss allowance	_	25	13	8	730	167	1,993	2,936

	Current HK\$'000	Overdue by 1-30 days HK\$'000	Overdue by 31-60 days HK\$'000	Overdue by 61-90 days HK\$'000	Overdue by 91 days- 1 year HK\$'000	Overdue by 1-2 years HK\$'000	Overdue by over 2 years HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 30 April 2024 Expected loss rate Gross carrying amount-Accounts	-	1.4%	2.0%	2.0%	54.8%	100.0%	100.0%	
receivable	9,308	1,084	345	247	484	83	2,082	13,633
Loss allowance	_	15	7	5	265	83	2,082	2,457

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including deposits and other receivables, the loss allowance was based on the 12-month ECL as there was no significant increase of credit risk since initial recognition of these financial assets.

As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, the expected credit loss is assessed to be insignificant.

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group's management regularly monitors current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that sufficient reserves of cash and adequate amount of committed credit facilities are available to meet the Group's liquidity requirements in the short and long term. Management believes that there is no significant liquidity risk in view of the available unutilised bank facilities and cash and cash equivalents held. In addition, the directors regularly review the liquidity position of the Group to ensure that all covenants with banks are complied with at all times.

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table is the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

	Less than	Between 1 year and	Between 2 years and	
	1 year	2 years	5 years	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 30 April 2025 Borrowings Accounts payable Accruals and other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities)	30,729 96,067 11,286	479 -	- -	31,208 96,067 11,286
Lease liabilities	122,652	60,755	6,991	190,398
	260,734	61,234	6,991	328,959
At 30 April 2024				
Borrowings	25,930	1,154	481	27,565
Accounts payable	77,936	_	_	77,936
Accruals and other payables (excluding				
non-financial liabilities)	13,661	_	_	13,661
Lease liabilities	143,363	70,620	22,645	236,628
	260,890	71,774	23,126	355,790

Notes to the Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group's bank borrowings contain a repayment on demand clause which can be exercised by the banks at their discretion. The analysis below shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the Group would be required to repay the borrowings if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate effect.

	On demand HK\$'000	Less than 1 year HK\$'000	Between 1 year and 2 years HK\$'000	Between 2 years and 5 years HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 30 April 2025 Borrowings	29,298	1,149	479		30,926
Accounts payable	29,290	96,067	- T19	_	96,067
Accruals and other payable (excluding non-financial		,,,,,,,,,			,,,,,,,,,
liabilities)	_	11,286	_	_	11,286
Lease liabilities	-	122,652	60,755	6,991	190,398
	29,298	231,154	61,234	6,991	328,677
		<u> </u>			
At 30 April 2024					
Borrowings	23,638	1,154	1,154	481	26,427
Accounts payable	_	77,936	_	_	77,936
Accruals and other payable (excluding non-financial					
liabilities)	_	13,661	_	_	13,661
Lease liabilities		143,363	70,620	22,645	236,628
	23,638	236,114	71,774	23,126	354,652

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(d) Cash flow interest-rate risk

The Group's interest-rate risk mainly arises from pledged bank deposits, bank balances and borrowings. The Group regularly seeks the most favourable interest rates available for its bank deposits and borrowings. Bank deposits and borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. Information relating to the interest rates and terms of the Group's bank deposits and borrowings are disclosed in Notes 21 and 24. As at 30 April 2025, if the market interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been HK\$168,000 lower/higher (2024: HK\$250,000), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income on bank deposits net off with higher/lower interest expense on borrowings.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt to equity ratio. The debt to equity ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position). Total capital is calculated as "equity", as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. The debt to equity ratios at 30 April 2025 and 2024 were as follows:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Total borrowings (Note 24)	30,856	26,213
Total equity	440,249	490,991
Debt to equity ratio	0.07	0.05

Notes to the Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of receivables is a reasonable approximation of its fair value. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as financial assets at FVOCI) is based on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.

Financial instruments that are measured in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

- Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).
- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (level 2).
- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (level 3).

The following table presents the Group's assets that are measured at fair value at 30 April 2025:

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Financial assets at FVOCI				
Equity securities	48			48

The following table presents the Group's assets that are measured at fair value at 30 April 2024:

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Financial assets at FVOCI				
 Equity securities 	62	_	-	62

There were no transfers between level 1 and 2 during the year.

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have been determined based on value-in-use calculations, taking into account latest market information and past experience. These calculations and valuations require the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable, (ii) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in the business, and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could affect the net present value used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group's financial position and results of operations.

Notes to the Financial Statements

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

(b) Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Management evaluates the provision for impairment of inventories by comparing the anticipated selling prices of the inventories with their carrying values. The overall evaluations require significant management judgements, including estimates of future sales, continuing market acceptance of its products, and market and economic conditions. Provision for inventory will be established based upon such judgements for any inventories that are identified as having a net realisable value less than their carrying value.

5 Segment information

The Executive Directors of the Group ("Management") review the Group's internal reports periodically in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports and assessed the business principally based on natures of products sold.

During the year, the Group has three reportable segments, namely (i) retail business, (ii) electronic components manufacturing, and (iii) investment property holding. Segment information provided to Management for decision making is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements.

5 Segment information (continued)

The segment information provided to the Management for the reportable segments for the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024 is as follows:

			Electronic	•	Investmen	,				
		ousiness	manufa	U		ling	Elimir			ital
	2025	2024	2025	2024	2025	2024	2025	2024	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Segment revenue External sales	1 204 171	1 422 007	10 277	AE 60E	0.42	1 024			1 444 201	1 460 606
	1,394,171	1,422,887	49,377	45,685	843	1,034	(1 505)	(1.505)	1,444,391	1,469,606
Intersegment sales		-		-	1,585	1,585	(1,585)	(1,585)	_	
	1,394,171	1,422,887	49,377	45,685	2,428	2,619	(1,585)	(1 585)	1,444,391	1,469,606
	1,571,171	1,122,001	15,511	15,005	2,120	2,017	(1,505)	(1,505)	1,111,371	1,107,000
Segment results										
Operating profit/(loss)	4,585	15,981	(16,112)	(17,461)	(2,116)	(3,093)			(13,643)	(4,573)
Operating pronoctoss)	т,лол	13,901	(10,112)	(17,701)	(2,110)	(3,093)			(13,013)	(1,313)
Cornorate expenses									(15,823)	(15,244)
Corporate expenses										
Finance costs, net									(12,483)	(10,435)
T 1. (t									(41.040)	(20.252)
Loss before income tax									(41,949)	(30,252) 440
Income tax (expense)/credit									(1,882)	##0
Loss for the year									(43,831)	(29,812)
Loss for the year									(15,031)	(29,012)
- 1 ()	(007 007)	(0.40.072)	(10 = 01)	(41.040)	(110)	(110)			(007.00.1)	(000 010)
Total cost of sales	(837,025)	(849,052)	(48,791)	(41,048)	(118)	(118)			(885,934)	(890,218)
Depreciation and amortisation	(183,798)	(191,098)	(2,442)	(2,592)	-	-			(186,240)	(193,690)
Provision for impairment of	(1(7)	(412)							(1(7)	(412)
property, plant and equipment	(167)	(413)	-	-	-	-			(167)	(413)
Provision for impairment of	(1.006)	(2.500)							(1.006)	(2.500)
right-of-use assets	(1,086)	(2,509)	-	-	-	-			(1,086)	(2,509)
Total distribution cost and	(55(433)	(550.076)	(1.((00)	(22,000)	(1.505)	(1.471)			(574 (36)	(501 (40)
administrative expenses	(556,423)	(558,076)	(16,698)	(22,099)	(1,505)	(1,471)			(574,626)	(581,646)
Capital expenditures	6,791	12,172	42	40					6,833	12,212

Notes to the Financial Statements

5 Segment information (continued)

	- 41			component	Investmen	1 1 ,	_1		_	,
	Retail b	ousiness	manuta	cturing	holo	ling	Elimir	nations	То	tal
	2025	2024	2025	2024	2025	2024	2025	2024	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Segment assets Unallocated assets	688,502	747,774	104,549	115,220	17,571	18,748	(2,337)	(2,470)	808,285	879,272
- Deferred tax assets									5,066	6,792
- Corporate assets									191	241
Total assets									813,542	886,305
Segment liabilities	327,348	353,043	6,578	7,629	818	1,323	(2,337)	(2,470)	332,407	359,525
Unallocated liabilities										
- Borrowings									30,856	26,213
 Deferred tax liabilities 									7,902	7,902
- Corporate liabilities									2,128	1,674
Total liabilities									373,293	395,314

Geographical information

	Reve	enue	Non-curr	ent assets	
	2025	2024	2025	2024	
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
The PRC (including Hong Kong Special					
Administrative Region)	1,425,997	1,452,766	524,469	589,876	
Other countries/regions	18,394	16,840	_	_	
	1,444,391	1,469,606	524,469	589,876	

Revenue by geographical location is determined on the basis of the destination of shipment or place of sales to the customers.

Non-current assets by geographical location are determined based on the location of the relevant assets.

The Group has a large number of customers. For the year ended 30 April 2025, no revenue was derived from transactions with a single external customer representing 10% or more of the Group's total revenue (2024: same).

5 Segment information (continued)

Accounting policy for revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of discounts.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.

(a) Sale of goods – retail

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the point of sale to customers or when a group entity has delivered products to the customer and collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(b) Sale of goods – electronic components manufacturing

Sales are recognised when the control of the products are transferred to the customers at a point in time, being products are delivered to the customers, the customers have full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers' acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customers.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

6 Other gains/(losses), net

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Net fair value loss on investment properties (<i>Note 15</i>) Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary (<i>Note</i>) Gain on lease modification (<i>Note 14</i>)	(1,336) 3,862	(2,538) - 223
	2,526	(2,315)

Note:

It represents the release of exchange reserve of approximately HK\$3,862,000 upon the deregistration of a dormant subsidiary of the Group during the year ended 30 April 2025.

Notes to the Financial Statements

7 Expenses by nature

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses, and general and administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Auditor's remuneration		
– audit services	2,180	2,200
 non-audit services 	98	166
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses included in		
cost of sales (Note 19)	869,071	879,777
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13)	25,084	24,905
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties		
that generate rental income	118	118
Employee benefit expenses (including directors' emoluments)		
(Note 8)	251,782	257,347
Net exchange gains	(= (===)	(2.0.0)
- recognised in cost of sales	(34,783)	
- recognised in general and administrative expenses	(2,333)	
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14)	161,156	168,785
Expenses relating to short-term leases and variable lease	17.007	10.070
payments (Note 14)	15,085	10,958
Provision for impairment of right-of-use assets (<i>Note 14</i>)	1,086	2,509
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss on financial assets	470	(((2)
(Note 20)	479	(663)
Provision for impairment of inventories (<i>Note 19</i>)	4,392	85
Provision for impairment of properties, plant and equipment (Note 13)	167	413
Utility expenses	69,052	71,253
Freight and transportation	53,797	50,771
Other expenses	59,952	61,745
Other expenses	39,932	01,743
Trade or followelling and live that are a live		
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and	1 476 202	1 407 100
general and administrative expenses	1,476,383	1,487,108

8 Employee benefit expenses

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Wages and salaries	229,925	232,506
Pension costs	19,229	18,853
Staff welfare	2,628	3,113
Severance payment	_	2,875
	251,782	257,347

(a) Pension costs – defined contribution plans

The Group has arranged for certain of its employees (including executive directors) in Hong Kong to participate in a defined contribution provident fund under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme"), which is managed by an independent trustee. Each of the Group and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% to 10% and 5%, respectively of the employees' basic salaries. The employees are entitled to receive their entire contributions and the accrued interest thereon, and 100% of the Group's employer contributions and the accrued interest thereon upon retirement or leaving the Group after completing one year of service. The forfeited contributions made by the Group and related accrued interest are used to reduce the Group's employer contribution. This scheme is not available for new employees who joined after 1 December 2000.

From 1 December 2000, companies within the Group in Hong Kong have participated in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the "MPF Scheme"), a defined contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% to 10% and 5%, respectively of the employees' relevant income as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance with the maximum mandatory contributions by each of the Group and its employees limited to HK\$1,500 per month, and further contributions are voluntary. The mandatory contributions are fully and immediately vested in the employees as accrued benefits. The employees are entitled to receive their entire voluntary contributions and 100% of the Group's employer voluntary contributions upon retirement or leaving the Group after completing one year of service. The forfeited voluntary contributions made by the Group are used to reduce the Group's employer voluntary contributions.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its employees in Mainland China. The Group contributes to the retirement plans at rates of approximately 20% to 27% of the basic salaries of its employees in Mainland China and has no further obligation for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits. The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

Notes to the Financial Statements

8 Employee benefit expenses (continued)

(a) Pension costs – defined contribution plans (continued)

The employees of the Company's subsidiary in Singapore are members of the Central Provident Funds (the "Funds") operated by the government of Singapore. The subsidiary contributes to the Funds approximately 17% of the salaries of its employees, and has no further obligation for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

During the year ended 30 April 2025, aggregate contributions made by the Group to the aforementioned schemes amounted to approximately HK\$19,229,000 (2024: HK\$18,853,000), with no deduction of forfeited contributions (2024: Nil). As at 30 April 2025, there were no material forfeitures available to offset the Group's future contributions.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year include two (2024: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. The emoluments paid/payable to the remaining three (2024: three) individuals during the year are as follows:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind	3,403	3,526
Contributions to pension schemes	70	137
Severance payment	_	1,476
	3,473	5,139

The emoluments fell within the following band:

	Number of	individuals
	2025	2024
Emolument bands		
HK\$1,000,000 to HK\$1,500,000	3	2
HK\$2,500,000 to HK\$3,000,000	_	1
	3	3

No emoluments were paid to individuals as an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

9 Finance costs, net

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
	11K5 000	ΠΑΦΟΟΟ
Interest expense on bank borrowings	1,655	773
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 14)	13,377	14,215
Interest income from bank deposits	(997)	(1,485)
Others	(1,552)	(3,068)
	12,483	10,435

10 Income tax expense/(credit)

The amount of income tax expense/(credit) charged to the consolidated income statement represents:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Hong Kong profits tax		
– current tax	_	_
– under provision in prior years	_	19
Overseas income tax including Mainland China		
– current tax	156	188
Deferred income tax (Note 18)	1,726	(647)
Income tax expense/(credit)	1,882	(440)

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda and is exempted from income tax in Bermuda until 2035. For the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, no provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made as the Group had an adjusted loss in Hong Kong. Subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China are subject to Mainland China enterprise income tax at the rate of 25% (2024: 25%) on their taxable income determined according to Mainland China tax laws. Certain subsidiaries of the Group are subject to "small and thin-profit enterprises" under Mainland China tax laws, whereby annual taxable income up to RMB3 million is subject to an effective tax rate of 5%. Other overseas income tax has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Notes to the Financial Statements

10 Income tax expense/(credit) (continued)

The reconciliation between the Group's actual tax charge and the amount which is calculated based on the domestic tax rates in the respective territories is as follows:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Loss before income tax	(41,949)	(30,252)
Tax calculated at weighted average domestic tax rates	(0.224)	(5.062)
applicable to profits in the respective territories	(8,224)	(5,862)
Preferential tax rates for small and thin-profit enterprises	(10.6)	(707)
in Mainland China	(486)	(585)
Tax effect on income not subject to income tax	(992)	(613)
Tax effect on expenses not deductible for		
income tax purposes	2,923	3,100
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised	8,913	3,319
Temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset is		
recognised	(252)	182
Under provision in prior years	-	19
	1.000	(112)
Income tax expense/(credit)	1,882	(440)

Accounting policy for current and deferred taxation

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

10 Income tax expense/(credit) (continued)

Accounting policy for current and deferred taxation (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference for associates. Only where there is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary difference not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries arrangements only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

(c) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Notes to the Financial Statements

11 Loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the consolidated loss attributable to equity holder of approximately HK\$43,831,000 (2024: HK\$29,812,000) and the weighted average number of 666,190,798 (2024: 666,190,798) shares in issue during the year.

For the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, diluted loss per share equals basic loss per share as there was no dilutive potential share.

12 Dividend

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 30 April 2025 (2024: Nil).

13 Property, plant and equipment

5 dl	Leasehold			Motor	m 1
Buildings HK\$'000	improvements HK\$'000	Machinery HK\$'000	equipment HK\$'000	vehicles HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
291,581	5,405	1,480	15,610	1,506	315,582
(1,762)	_	(39)	(14)	(14)	(1,829)
-	4,300	14	8,937	-	13,251
(12,279)		(250)	(7,582)	(661)	(24,905)
-	(413)	_		-	(413)
277,540	5,159	1,205	16,951	831	301,686
440.955	92.776	157.574	140.732	18.969	851,006
,,,,,,,	>2,	131,311	110,132	10,707	031,000
(163,415)	(87,617)	(156,369)	(123,781)	(18,138)	(549,320)
277,540	5,159	1,205	16,951	831	301,686
277 540	5 150	1 205	16 951	831	301,686
	,				(1,190)
-		-		-	6,833
(12,524)		(225)		(368)	(25,084)
	(167)		_		(167)
263,881	4,595	945	12,204	453	282,078
430 294	02 410	155 321	141 341	18 001	847,266
7,207	92,719	133,321	171,371	10,901	077,200
(175,403)	(87,824)	(154,376)	(129,137)	(18,448)	(565,188)
263,881	4,595	945	12,204	453	282,078
	291,581 (1,762) - (12,279) - 277,540 440,955 (163,415) 277,540 (1,135) - (12,524) - 263,881 439,284 (175,403)	Buildings improvements HK\$'000 HK\$'000 291,581 5,405 (1,762) - - 4,300 (12,279) (4,133) - (413) 277,540 5,159 440,955 92,776 (163,415) (87,617) 277,540 5,159 (1,135) - - 3,614 (12,524) (4,011) - (167) 263,881 4,595 439,284 92,419 (175,403) (87,824)	Buildings improvements HK\$'000 Machinery HK\$'000 291,581 5,405 1,480 (1,762) — (39) — 4,300 14 (12,279) (4,133) (250) — (413) — 277,540 5,159 1,205 440,955 92,776 157,574 (163,415) (87,617) (156,369) 277,540 5,159 1,205 (1,135) — (35) — 3,614 — (12,524) (4,011) (225) — (167) — 263,881 4,595 945 439,284 92,419 155,321 (175,403) (87,824) (154,376)	Buildings improvements HK\$'000 Machinery HK\$'000 equipment HK\$'000 291,581 5,405 1,480 15,610 (1,762) - (39) (14) - 4,300 14 8,937 (12,279) (4,133) (250) (7,582) - (413) - - 277,540 5,159 1,205 16,951 440,955 92,776 157,574 140,732 (163,415) (87,617) (156,369) (123,781) 277,540 5,159 1,205 16,951 (1,135) - (35) (10) - 3,614 - 3,219 (12,524) (4,011) (225) (7,956) - (167) - - 263,881 4,595 945 12,204 439,284 92,419 155,321 141,341 (175,403) (87,824) (154,376) (129,137)	Buildings improvements HK\$'000 Machinery HK\$'000 equipment HK\$'000 vehicles HK\$'000 291,581 5,405 1,480 15,610 1,506 (1,762) — (39) (14) (14) — 4,300 14 8,937 — (12,279) (4,133) (250) (7,582) (661) — (413) — — — 277,540 5,159 1,205 16,951 831 440,955 92,776 157,574 140,732 18,969 (163,415) (87,617) (156,369) (123,781) (18,138) 277,540 5,159 1,205 16,951 831 (1,135) — (35) (10) (10) — 3,614 — 3,219 — (12,524) (4,011) (225) (7,956) (368) — (167) — — — 263,881 4,595 945 12,204 453 <

During the year, depreciation expense of approximately HK\$3,849,000 (2024: HK\$4,084,000), HK\$10,430,000 (2024: HK\$10,066,000) and HK\$10,805,000 (2024: HK\$10,755,000) was charged to cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and general and administrative expenses respectively.

Notes to the Financial Statements

13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK\$206,968,000 as at 30 April 2025 (2024: HK\$216,597,000) were pledged against certain of the Group's borrowings (Note 29).

The Group performed assessment on impairment of leasehold improvements and right-of-use assets of its retail stores by considering the recoverable amount of such assets at store level. Key inputs to the determination of the recoverable amount includes revenue growth, gross profit margin and discount rate. The discount rate adopted in the impairment assessments is determined based on the market's weighted average cost of capital of the Group. For the year ended 30 April 2025, an impairment charge of approximately HK\$167,000 and HK\$1,086,000 (2024: impairment charge of approximately HK\$413,000 and HK\$2,509,000) was recognised for leasehold improvements and right-of-use assets, respectively.

Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories, retail outlets and offices. All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.

13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment (continued)

The principal annual rates are as follows:

- Buildings 1.8% to 4.1%

– Machinery 10%

Furniture and equipment 16.7% to 25%Motor vehicles 16.7% to 30%

Leasehold improvements
 33% or over the lease period, whichever is shorter

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 34.4).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within "other gains/(losses), net" in the consolidated income statement.

14 Leases

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Right-of-use assets		
Properties leases	178,428	217,769
Land use rights	13,560	14,143
	191,988	231,912
Lease liabilities		
Current	117,103	136,708
Non-current	65,735	89,562
	182,838	226,270

Addition to the right-of-use assets during the year was approximately HK\$123,810,000 (2024: HK\$173,473,000).

Notes to the Financial Statements

14 Leases (continued)

(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets		
– Properties leases	160,673	168,299
– Land use rights	483	486
Provision for impairment of right-of-use assets (Note 7)	1,086	2,509
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 9)	13,377	14,215
Gain on lease modification (Note 6)	_	223
Expenses relating to short-term leases and variable		
lease payments (Note 7)	15,085	10,958

The total cash outflow for leases in 2025 was HK\$193,266,000 (2024: HK\$190,885,000).

(iii) The Group's leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various lands, offices, warehouses and retail stores. Lease of lands are generally made for 50 years while the rental contracts for properties leases are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years. Lease terms for properties leases are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets in relation to properties leases may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

(iv) Variable lease payments

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are linked to sales generated from a store. Variable lease payments that depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those payments occur.

(v) Extension options

Extension options are included in a number of property leases across the Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group's operations. The majority of extension held are exercisable by both the Group and the respective lessor.

14 Leases (continued)

Accounting policy for lease

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
- variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date:
- amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group, where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received, and makes adjustments specific to the lease.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Notes to the Financial Statements

14 Leases (continued)

Accounting policy for lease (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

- the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
- any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
- any initial direct costs; and
- any restoration cost.

The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Leasehold land commences amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land and depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives.

See Note 34.4 for the impairment policy of other non-financial assets.

15 Investment properties

Net fair value loss (<i>Note 6</i>) Exchange difference	(1,336) (149)	(2,538) (257)
Exchange difference	(149)	(257)

15 Investment properties (continued)

The period of leases whereby the Group leases out its investment properties under operating leases ranges from 1 to 2 years.

Investment properties with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK\$9,230,000 as at 30 April 2025 (2024: HK\$9,890,000) were pledged against certain of the Group's borrowings (Note 29).

The consolidated income statement includes rental income from investment property of HK\$843,000 (2024: HK\$1,034,000) and related direct operating expenses of approximately HK\$118,000 (2024: HK\$118,000).

The Group's investment properties were valued at 30 April 2025 by Castores Magi (Hong Kong) Limited, independent professionally qualified valuer who holds recognised relevant professional qualifications and have relevant experience in respect of the investment properties valued. The revaluation gains or losses are included in 'other gains/(losses), net' in the consolidated income statement (Note 6).

The Group reviews the valuation performed by independent valuers for financial reporting purposes. Discussion of valuation process and results are held between management and independent qualified valuers once a year for financial reporting purposes.

The following table analyses the fair value hierarchy of the investment properties.

Description	Fair value measu Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1) HK\$'000	rements at 30 App Significant other observable inputs (Level 2) HK\$'000	Significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) HK\$'000
Recurring fair value measurements:			
Investment properties	_	_	15,630
	Quoted prices in active	rements at 30 Apr Significant other	Significant
	markets for	observable	unobservable
	identical assets	inputs	inputs
Description	(Level 1)	(Level 2)	(Level 3)
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Recurring fair value measurements:			
Investment properties	-	-	17,115

Notes to the Financial Statements

15 Investment properties (continued)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

Fair value is defined as "the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm's-length transaction after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion".

The investment properties were revalued on an open market basis. Fair value of the investment properties is derived from comparing the properties to be valued directly with other comparable properties in close proximity, which have recently transacted or offered. However, given the heterogeneous nature of the properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any qualitative differences that may affect the price likely to be achieved by the property under consideration. The most significant impact into this valuation approach is price per square feet.

There was no change to the valuation technique with that of prior year.

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Description	Fair value at 30 April 2025 (HK\$'000)	Valuation technique	Unobservable inputs	Range of unobservable inputs	Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value
Shop – HK	4,500	Market comparable	Price per square feet	HK\$8,522 – HK\$12,208 per square feet	The higher the price per square feet, the higher the fair value
Residential building – HK	4,730	Market comparable	Price per square feet	HK\$6,619 – HK\$7,087 per square feet	The higher the price per square feet, the higher the fair value
Commercial building – PRC	6,400	Market comparable	Price per square meter	RMB18,800 – RMB21,850 per square meter	The higher the price per square meter, the higher the fair value
	15,630				

15 Investment properties (continued)

Description	Fair value At 30 April 2024 (HK\$'000)	Valuation technique	Unobservable inputs	Range of unobservable inputs	Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value
Shop – HK	4,920	Market comparable	Price per square feet	HK\$9,324 – HK\$12,051 per square feet	The higher the price per square feet, the higher the fair value
Residential building – HK	4,970	Market comparable	Price per square feet	HK\$6,232 – HK\$7,535 per square feet	The higher the price per square feet, the higher the fair value
Commercial building – PRC	7,225	Market comparable	Price per square meter	RMB21,120 – RMB24,500 per square meter	The higher the price per square meter, the higher the fair value
	17,115				

Accounting policy for investment properties

Investment properties, comprising residential and office buildings, and a retail outlet are held for long-term rental yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially measured at cost, including related transaction costs. Subsequently, it is carried at fair value, representing open market value determined annually by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as offer prices, recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the consolidated income statement as part of "other gains/(losses), net".

16 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
	11K\$ 000	1110,5 000
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong		
- Financial asset at fair value through		
other comprehensive income	48	62

Notes to the Financial Statements

17 Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Prepayments and deposits for purchase of inventories	5,913	4,333
Rental deposits and prepaid rent	60,709	65,610
Other deposits and other receivables	3,277	3,454
	69,899	73,397
Less: Non-current portion		
Rental deposits	(29,659)	(32,309)
	40,240	41,088

The carrying amounts of the Group's deposits, prepayments and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Hong Kong dollars	63,514	68,479
EUR	331	204
RMB	713	1,045
JPY	3,271	3,006
United States dollars	1,706	273
Other currencies	364	390
	69,899	73,397

As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables approximated their fair values.

As at 30 April 2025, financial assets at amortised cost of HK\$65,460,000 (2024: HK\$70,035,000) was included in deposits and other receivables.

18 Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences under the liability method using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period in the respective jurisdictions.

The movements of the net deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At the beginning of the year	(1,110)	(1,757)
(Charged)/credited to consolidated income statement		
(Note 10)	(1,726)	647
At the end of the year	(2,836)	(1,110)

Movements of the deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets	Decelo deprec allow 2025	ciation	Provi 2025	sions	Tax l 2025	osses 2024	To 2025	tal 2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At the beginning of the year (Charged)/credited to consolidated income	4,501	5,090	584	238	1,707	399	6,792	5,727
statement	(33)	(589)	14	346	(1,707)	1,308	(1,726)	1,065
At the end of the year	4,468	4,501	598	584	_	1,707	5,066	6,792

	Accelerated depreciation		
	allow	vance	
	2025	2024	
Deferred tax liabilities	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
At the beginning of the year	7,902	7,484	
Charged to consolidated income statement	_	418	
At the end of the year	7,902	7,902	

Notes to the Financial Statements

18 Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Deferred income tax assets		
- to be recovered within 12 months	_	_
- to be recovered after more than 12 months	5,066	6,792
	5,066	6,792
Deferred income tax liabilities		
- to be settled within 12 months	_	_
- to be settled after more than 12 months	(7,902)	(7,902)
	(7,902)	(7,902)
Deferred tax liabilities, net	(2,836)	(1,110)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 30 April 2025, the Group has tax losses of approximately HK\$103,551,000 (2024: HK\$74,925,000) for which no deferred tax asset is recognised. These tax losses are subject to approval by the tax authorities of places of operation of the Company and the subsidiaries. Unrecognised tax losses of HK\$27,055,000 (2024: HK\$1,895,000) have no expiry date, the remaining losses will expire at variable dates up to and including 2029 (2024: 2028).

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law and its implementation rules, effective from 1 January 2008, certain non-resident enterprises (for instance, those without an establishment or place of business in the PRC or which have an establishment or place of business in the PRC whose relevant income is not effectively connected with the establishment or a places of business in PRC) are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 5% or 10% on various types of passive income such as dividend derived from sources within the PRC.

The Group is subject to withholding tax on distributions of profits generated after 31 December 2007 from the Group's foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC. As all of the Group's foreign-invested enterprises are directly and wholly owned by a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary, a rate of 5% is applicable to the calculation of this withholding tax. Deferred tax liabilities of HK\$495,000 (2024: HK\$403,000) have not been provided for as there are no expected dividends to be distributed from the Group's foreign-invested enterprises in the foreseeable future in respect of the profits generated after 31 December 2007.

19 Inventories

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Retail business		
– Merchandise	147,105	133,190
Electronic components manufacturing		
– Raw materials	5,746	10,929
– Work-in-progress	1,758	2,444
– Finished goods	4,604	4,740
	159,213	151,303

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in "cost of sales" amounted to approximately HK\$869,071,000 (2024: HK\$879,777,000) (Note 7). During the year, the Group has recorded provision for inventory obsolescence of approximately HK\$4,392,000 (2024: HK\$85,000), which was included in cost of sales and as at 30 April 2025, the amount of provision was approximately HK\$21,184,000 (2024: HK\$17,185,000).

As at 30 April 2025, inventories amounted to HK\$29,298,000 (2024: HK\$23,638,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group's import and trust receipt loans (Note 29).

Accounting policy for inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method and excludes borrowing costs. For the manufacturing operations, the cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). For retail business, the cost includes all expenditures including material cost and shipping cost in bringing the inventory to its present location. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

20 Accounts receivable

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Accounts receivable Less: loss allowance	14,382 (2,936)	13,633 (2,457)
Accounts receivable, net	11,446	11,176

Notes to the Financial Statements

20 Accounts receivable (continued)

The ageing analysis of accounts receivable, based on invoice date, is as follows:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
0-30 days	6,743	7,075
31-60 days	2,674	2,198
61-90 days	1,036	1,047
91-120 days	403	468
Over 120 days	3,526	2,845
	14,382	13,633
Less: loss allowance	(2,936)	(2,457)
	11,446	11,176

As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, the carrying amount of accounts receivable approximated its fair value.

The Group primarily offers an average credit period ranging from 30 to 120 days to its non-retail business customers (2024: 30 to 120 days).

The Group's credit risk control and the analysis of concentration of credit risk are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

Movements on the loss allowance are as follows:

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
At the beginning of the year	2,457	5,417
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance recognised in the profit or loss during the year	479	(663)
Write-off during the year	_	(2,297)
At the end of the year	2,936	2,457

The creation and release of loss allowance have been included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement (Note 7).

20 Accounts receivable (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's accounts receivable are denominated in the following currencies:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
	••••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Hong Kong dollars	3,133	3,247
RMB	2,729	2,526
United States dollars	5,415	5,335
Other currencies	169	68
	11,446	11,176

21 Pledged bank balances and cash and cash equivalents

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Pledged bank balances (Note a)	21,440	21,440
Cash and cash equivalents (Note b)	56,734	71,422
	78,174	92,862
Maximum exposure to credit risk	71,085	86,177

The pledged bank balances and cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Hong Kong dollars	68,766	81,265
RMB	4,687	5,669
United States dollars	2,977	2,102
Other currencies	1,744	3,826
	78,174	92,862

Notes to the Financial Statements

21 Pledged bank balances and cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Notes:

- (a) As at 30 April 2025, the Group's bank balances of approximately HK\$21,440,000 (2024: HK\$21,440,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings (Note 29). As at 30 April 2025, the pledged bank balances had maturities ranging from three months to one year and carried a weighted average interest rate of 3.72% (2024: 4.5%) per annum.
- (b) The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and repatriation of RMB out of China is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange promulgated by the government of the Mainland China. As at 30 April 2025, the Group's cash and cash equivalents amounting to HK\$4,017,000 (2024: HK\$5,347,000) were denominated in RMB and deposited with banks in the PRC.

22 Share capital

	202	5	2024			
	Number of Shares	Share capital HK\$'000	Number of shares	Share capital HK\$'000		
Authorised: Shares of HK\$0.10 each	1,000,000,000	100,000	1,000,000,000	100,000		
Issued and fully paid: Shares of HK\$0.10 each At the beginning and the end of the year	666,190,798	66,619	666,190,798	66,619		

23 Reserves

	Share premium HK\$'000	Capital redemption reserve HK\$'000	Capital reserve (note a) HK\$'000	Investment revaluation reserve HK\$'000	Property revaluation reserve (note b) HK\$'000	Statutory reserves (note c) HK\$'000	Exchange reserve HK\$'000	Retained earnings HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 1 May 2024	25,075	5,042	13,934	(76)	7,450	19,632	72,299	281,016	424,372
Currency translation differences Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other	-	-	-	-	-	-	(3,035)	-	(3,035)
comprehensive income	-	-	-	(14)	-	-	-	-	(14)
Loss for the year	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	(43,831)	(43,831)
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration of a subsidiary	-	-	-	-	-	-	(3,862)	-	(3,862)
At 30 April 2025	25,075	5,042	13,934	(90)	7,450	19,632	65,402	237,185	373,630

23 Reserves (continued)

		Capital		Investment	Property				
	Share	redemption	Capital	revaluation	revaluation	Statutory	Exchange	Retained	
	premium	reserve	reserve	reserve	reserve	reserves	reserve	earnings	Total
			(note a)		(note b)	(note c)			
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 1 May 2023	25,075	5,042	13,934	(32)	7,450	19,632	78,333	317,490	466,924
Dividend	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	(6,662)	(6,662)
Currency translation differences	_	-	_	-	_	_	(6,034)	-	(6,034)
Change in fair value of financial									
assets at fair value through other									
comprehensive income	-	-	-	(44)	-	-	-	-	(44)
Loss for the year			-	-	-	-		(29,812)	(29,812)
At 30 April 2024	25,075	5,042	13,934	(76)	7,450	19,632	72,299	281,016	424,372

Notes:

- (a) Capital reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the Company's shares issued and the combined share capital of the subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the reorganisation in 1999.
- (b) Property revaluation reserve represents revaluation surplus arising from the fair value change of land and buildings at the time of transfer from properties, plant and equipment to investment properties.
- (c) In accordance with the laws and regulations of Mainland China, the Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China are required to set aside certain portion of their retained earnings to a statutory reserve account and a corporate development reserve account. The statutory reserve account can only be used to make up losses incurred or increase registered capital while the corporate development reserve account can be used for expansion of the production and operation or increase registered capital of respective subsidiaries in Mainland China. The percentage of appropriation is determined by the board of directors of respective subsidiaries in Mainland China.

Notes to the Financial Statements

24 Borrowings

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Import and trust receipt loans	29,298	23,638
Term loans	1,558	2,575
Total borrowings	30,856	26,213
Less: Non-current portion	(472)	(1,558)
	30,384	24,655

As at 30 April 2025, the Group has no bank borrowings contractually due for repayment after one year contain a repayable on demand clause and is classified as current liabilities (2024: same). The maturity of borrowings based on scheduled repayment dates is analysed as follows:

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Within one year	30,384	24,655
Between one and two years	472	1,083
Between two and five years	_	475
	30,856	26,213

As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, the ranges of effective interest rates of loans of major currencies were as follows:

		2025		2024			
	HK\$ JPY EUR			HK\$	HK\$ JPY E		
	%	%	%	%	%	%	
Borrowings	3.11-5.88	3.11-3.17	4.45-4.74	4.69-6.47	_		

24 Borrowings (continued)

The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values and are denominated in the following currencies:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Hong Kong dollars	14,666	26,213
JPY	12,291	_
EUR	3,899	-
	30,856	26,213

The Group is required to comply with certain restrictive financial covenants imposed by the banks. During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Group has been in compliance with those financial covenants (2024: same). Details of the Group's bank facilities and pledges of assets are set out in Note 29.

25 Accounts payable

The ageing analysis of accounts payable, based on invoice date, is as follows:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
0-30 days	76,516	68,983
31-60 days	18,462	7,727
61-90 days	1,089	1,197
91-120 days	_	_
Over 120 days	_	29
	96,067	77,936

The carrying amounts of the Group's accounts payable are denominated in the following currencies:

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Hong Kong dollars	20,496	18,054
United States dollars	23,001	21,470
JPY	34,359	21,778
RMB	2,868	5,113
Other currencies	15,343	11,521
	96,067	77,936

Notes to the Financial Statements

26 Accruals and other payables

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Contract liabilities	1,817	1,704
Salaries and other staff welfare payable	25,346	24,682
Rental and store utilities payable	1,052	767
Provision for long service payments	200	_
Provision for reinstatement cost	16,856	16,796
Other taxes payable	125	150
Interest payable	90	186
Accrual for auditor's remuneration	2,200	2,346
Other accrued expenses	7,944	10,362
	55,630	56,993
Less: Non-current portion		
Provision for reinstatement cost	(8,971)	(9,151)
Provision for long service payments	(200)	_
	46,459	47,842

Financial liabilities at amortised cost of approximately HK\$11,286,000 (2024: HK\$13,661,000) was included in accruals and other payables as at 30 April 2025.

Movements on the provision for reinstatement cost are as follows:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
At the beginning of the year	16,796	16,826
Provision for reinstatement cost	970	1,360
Utilisation of provision for reinstatement cost	(910)	(1,390)
At the end of the year	16,856	16,796

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flow

(a) Cash generated from operations

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Loss for the year	(43,831)	(29,812)
Adjustments for:		
Income tax expense/(credit)	1,882	(440)
– Interest income	(997)	(1,485)
– Interest expense	15,032	14,988
– Gain on lease modification	_	(223)
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets	161,156	168,785
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 	25,084	24,905
 Provision for/(reversal of) for impairment loss 		
on financial assets	479	(663)
- Provision for impairment of right-of-use assets	1,086	2,509
- Fair value losses on investment properties	1,336	2,538
- Net provision for impairment loss on property,		
plant and equipment	167	413
- Provision for impairment of inventories	4,392	85
 Provision for/(reversal of) long service payments 	200	(250)
- Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary	(3,862)	_
 Exchange difference 	(1,465)	(3,161)
	160,659	178,189
Changes in working capital:	100,033	1,0,100
 Increase in inventories 	(12,302)	(7,106)
- (Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable	(749)	3,934
- Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and	(,,,,	- ,
other receivables	2,512	(3,122)
 Increase in accounts payable 	18,131	7,184
Decrease in accruals and other payables	(1,527)	(10,476)
1 7	- , ,	
Cash generated from operations	166,724	168,603
	100,724	100,003

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

(b) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the years presented.

	2025	2024
Net debt	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cash and cash equivalents	56,734	71,422
Pledged bank balances	21,440	21,440
Borrowings	(30,856)	(26,213)
Interest payables	(90)	(186)
Lease liabilities	(182,838)	(226,270)
Net debt	(135,610)	(159,807)

	Borrowings HK\$'000	Interest payables HK\$'000	Lease liabilities HK\$'000	Cash and cash equivalents HK\$'000	Pledged bank balance HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Net debt as at 1 May 2023	(3,517)	(18)	(228,120)	86,022	21,440	(124,193)
Additions	(5,511)	-	(163,862)	-	-	(163,862)
Cash flows	(22,696)	605	179,927	(14,295)	_	143,541
Interest expense	_	(773)	(14,215)	-	_	(14,988)
Other changes		_	_	(305)		(305)
Net debt as at 30 April 2024	(26,213)	(186)	(226,270)	71,422	21,440	(159,807)
Additions	-	_	(121,372)	-	,	(121,372)
Cash flows	(4,643)	1,751	178,181	(14,557)	_	160,732
Interest expense	_	(1,655)	(13,377)	-	-	(15,032)
Other changes		_	-	(131)	_	(131)
Net debt as at 30 April 2025	(30,856)	(90)	(182,838)	56,734	21,440	(135,610)

28 Commitments

Operating leases - where the Group is the lessor

At 30 April 2025, the Group had future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

	2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
Not later than one year Later than one year and not later than five years	863 789	394 61
	1,652	455

29 Bank facilities and pledge of assets

As at 30 April 2025, the Group had aggregate bank facilities of approximately HK\$381,858,000 (2024: HK\$382,875,000) for term loans, import and trust receipt loans etc. Unutilised facilities as at the same date amounted to approximately HK\$350,537,000 (2024: HK\$356,662,000), of which approximately HK\$350,537,000 (2024: HK\$356,662,000) is relating to import and trust receipt loans. As at 30 April 2025, these facilities were secured by corporate guarantees executed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries and the following:

- (a) pledges of the Group's buildings of approximately HK\$206,968,000 (2024: HK\$216,597,000) (Note 13).
- (b) pledges of the Group's investment properties of approximately HK\$9,230,000 (2024: HK\$9,890,000) (Note 15).
- (c) pledges of the Group's bank balances of approximately HK\$21,440,000 (2024: HK\$21,440,000) (Note 21).
- (d) charges over HK\$29,298,000 of the Group's inventories held under import and trust receipts loans arrangements (2024: HK\$23,638,000) (Note 19).

30 Financial guarantees

The Group's bankers have given guarantee in lieu of deposits amounting to approximately HK\$465,000 to the landlords of a subsidiary of the Group as at 30 April 2025 (2024: Nil).

31 Related party transactions

Related party is a party that is related to the Group if directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Group (including the Company or its wholly or non-wholly owned subsidiaries); or the party has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual who is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent.

Except as otherwise stated, during the year, the Group had the following related party transactions, which were carried out in the normal course of the Group's business at mutually agreed prices:

		2025 HK\$'000	2024 HK\$'000
(a)	Rental expense paid to a related company which is owned by certain directors of the Company	663	663
	Rental expense paid to a director of the Company	294	294

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Key management compensation is as below:

	2025	2024
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Director's fee, wages and salaries	11,977	11,956
Pension costs – defined contribution plans	490	490
	12,467	12,446

32 Statement of financial position and reserve of the Company

		2025	2024
	Note	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
ASSETS			
Non-current asset			
Investments in subsidiaries	(a)	238,973	238 460
investments in subsidiaries	(u)	238,973	238,469
Current assets			
Amounts due from subsidiaries		2,000	2,000
Prepayments		-	121
Cash and cash equivalents		191	120
		2 101	2 241
		2,191	2,241
Total assets	_	241,164	240,710
EQUITY			
Share capital		66,619	66,619
Reserves	(b)	172,417	172,417
Total equity		239,036	239,036
Current liability			
Accruals and other payables		2,128	1,674
Total liability		2,128	1,674
Total equity and liability		241,164	240,710

32 Statement of financial position and reserve of the Company (continued)

Note (a) Subsidiaries

The following is a list of the subsidiaries as at 30 April 2025 and 2024:

Name	Place of incorporation operation	Principal activities	Particulars of issued share capital/registered capital	Interest held (i)
CEC-Coils Singapore Pte Ltd.	Singapore	Inactive	Ordinary US\$1,500,000	(2024: 100%) (iv)
北京高雅恒健科技有限公司 (CEC-Technology Beijing Limited) (iii)	Mainland China	Property investment holding	Registered capital US\$750,000	100%
CEC-Technology Limited	Hong Kong	Inactive	Ordinary HK\$10,000	100%
重慶高雅科技有限公司 (Chongqing CEC-Technology Limited) (iii)	Mainland China	Provision of information technology services	Registered capital HK\$2,900,000	100%
Coils Electronic Co., Limited	Hong Kong	Investment holding; manufacture and sale of coils and other electronic components; retail business	Ordinary HK\$2; Non-voting deferred HK\$14,000,000 (ii)	100%
Coils Electronic (Zhong Shan) Co., Ltd. (iii)	Mainland China	Manufacture and sale of coils and other electronic components	Registered capital US\$31,366,980	100%
Coils International Holdings Limited	British Virgin Islands	Investment holding	Ordinary US\$10,000	100%
Coils Investment (BVI) Limited	British Virgin Islands	Investment holding	Ordinary US\$1	100%
Coils Property Management Limited	Hong Kong	Property investment holding	Ordinary HK\$200,000	100%
Gaozhou Coils Electronic Co. Ltd. (iii)	Mainland China	Manufacture and sale of coils and other electronic components	Registered capital US\$500,000	100%

Notes to the Financial Statements

32 Statement of financial position and reserve of the Company (continued)

Note (a) Subsidiaries (continued)

The following is a list of the subsidiaries as at 30 April 2025 and 2024: (continued)

Name	Place of incorporation operation	Principal activities	Particulars of issued share capital/registered capital	Interest held (i)
Coils Venture Co. Ltd	Hong Kong	Investment holding	Ordinary HK\$10,000	100%
南京國仲磁性材料製品有限公司 (Nanjing Guo Zhong Magnetic Material Co., Ltd.) (iii)	Mainland China	Inactive	Registered capital HK\$23,000,000	100%
Fujian FTA Test Area Xiamen Aren 759 Store Trading Co., Ltd (iii)	Mainland China	Manufacture and sale of coils and other electronic components; trading and wholesale of food and household products	Registered capital HK\$9,567,620	100%
Zhongshan Coils Metalwork Co., Ltd. (iii)	Mainland China	Inactive	Registered capital US\$755,000	100%
Zhongshan CEC-Coils Food Co, Limited (iii)	Mainland China	Manufacture of bottled water	Registered capital US\$1,000,000	100%
Xiamen Guo Zhong Food Co Ltd (iii)	Mainland China	Packaging food	Registered capital US\$500,000	100%
Coils Retail Limited	Hong Kong	Inactive	Ordinary HK\$10,000	100%
中山高雅商貿有限公司 (Zhongshan Coils Trading Co., Ltd.) (iii)	Mainland China	Inactive	Registered capital US\$200,000	100% (2024: –)

The underlying value of the investments in subsidiaries is, in the opinion of Directors, not less than the carrying value as at 30 April 2025.

As at 30 April 2025, the Company had given guarantees to banks and financial institutions to secure the utilised bank facilities of a subsidiary amounting to approximately HK\$30,856,000 (2024: HK\$26,213,000).

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during the year ended 30 April 2025 (2024: Nil).

32 Statement of financial position and reserve of the Company (continued)

Note (a) Subsidiaries (continued)

The following is a list of the subsidiaries as at 30 April 2025 and 2024: (continued)

Notes:

- (i) The shares in Coils International Holdings Limited are held directly by the Company. The shares in other subsidiaries are held indirectly by the Company.
- (ii) The non-voting deferred shares of Coils Electronic Co., Limited are owned by Mr. Lam Wai Chun, Ms. Law Ching Yee and Ka Yan China Development (Holding) Company Limited, the intermediate holding company of the Company. Holders of the non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights, are not entitled to dividends unless the net profit of Coils Electronic Co., Limited exceeds HK\$100,000,000,000,000, and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a sum of HK\$100,000,000,000,000 has been distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares.
- (iii) 重慶高雅科技有限公司 (Chongqing CEC-Technology Limited) is wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China to be operated for 45 years up to August 2047.

Coils Electronic (Zhong Shan) Co. Ltd., Zhongshan Coils Metalwork Co., Ltd. And Fujian FTA Test Area Xiamen Area 759 Store Trading Co., Ltd are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in Mainland China to be operated for 25 years up to April 2026, February 2026 and December 2037 respectively.

南京國仲磁性材料製品有限公司 (Nanjing Guo Zhong Magnetic Material Co., Ltd.) is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China to be operated for 30 years up to April 2033.

北京高雅恒健科技有限公司 (CEC-Technology Beijing Limited) is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China to be operated for 20 years up to October 2026.

Zhongshan CEC-Coils Food Co., Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China to be operated for an indefinite period.

Xiamen Guo Zhong Food Co Ltd is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China to be operated for 20 years up to April 2032.

Gaozhou Coils Electronic Co. Ltd. and 中山高雅商貿有限公司 (Zhongshan Coils Trading Co., Ltd.) are wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China to be operated for an indefinite period.

(iv) CEC-Coils Singapore Pte Ltd. was deregistered during the year ended 30 April 2025.

32 Statement of financial position and reserve of the Company (continued)

Note (b) Reserve movement of the Company

		Capital			
	Share	redemption	Contributed	Retained	
	premium	reserve	surplus	earnings	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
•••••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			
At 1 May 2023	25,075	5,042	131,338	17,624	179,079
Dividend paid	_	_	_	(6,662)	(6,662)
At 30 April 2024,					
1 May 2024 and					
30 April 2025	25,075	5,042	131,338	10,962	172,417
50 HpH 2025	23,013	3,012	131,330	10,702	2,2,111

Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the nominal value of the Company's shares issued and the aggregate net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the reorganisation in 1999. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus is distributable to shareholders subject to the condition that subsequent to the payment of dividend or any distribution, (i) the Company will be able to pay its liabilities as they become due, and (ii) the realisable value of the Company's assets would not be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium.

Employer's

Notes to the Financial Statements

- 33 Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures required by section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK Listing Rules)
 - (a) Directors' and chief executive's emoluments

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set out below:

For the year ended 30 April 2025:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's service as a director, whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking

			contribution	
			to a	
			retirement	
			benefit	
Name	Fees	Salary	scheme	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Executive directors:				
Ms. Tang Fung Kwan				
(Chief Executive)	_	5,304	442	5,746
Mr. Lam Kwok Chung	_	4,200	24	4,224
Mr. Ho Man Lee	_	949	24	973
Independent				
non-executive directors:				
Mr. Chan Chiu Ying	540	_	_	540
Mr. Goh Gen Cheung	522	_	_	522
Ms. Tsui Mei Ling May	462	-	_	462
Total	1,524	10,453	490	12,467

- 33 Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures required by section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK Listing Rules) (continued)
 - (a) Directors' and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 30 April 2024:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's service as a director, whether of the company or its subsidiary undertaking

			Employer's contribution to a retirement	
			benefit	
Name	Fees	Salary	scheme	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Executive directors:				
Ms. Tang Fung Kwan				
(Chief Executive)	-	5,283	442	5,725
Mr. Lam Kwok Chung	_	4,200	24	4,224
Mr. Ho Man Lee	-	949	24	973
Independent				
non-executive directors:				
Mr. Chan Chiu Ying	540	_	_	540
Mr. Goh Gen Cheung	522	_	_	522
Ms. Tsui Mei Ling May	462	-	-	462
Total	1,524	10,432	490	12,446

Note:

(i) Salary received by the executive directors include all emoluments paid or receivable in respect of directors' services in connection with the management of the Company and its subsidiary undertaking.

(b) Directors' retirement benefits

Save as disclosed in Note 33(a), no other retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in respect of their other services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking (2024: Nil).

- 33 Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures required by section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK Listing Rules) (continued)
 - (c) Directors' termination benefits
 - Save as disclosed in Note 33(a), no payment was made to directors as compensation for the early termination of the appointment during the year (2024: Nil).
 - (d) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors' services

 No payment was made to the former employer of directors for making available the services of them as a director of the Company (2024: Nil).
 - (e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors
 - There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors during the year (2024: Nil).
 - (f) Directors' material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
 - Save as disclosed in Note 31, no other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Notes to the Financial Statements

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

34.1 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30 April. All subsidiaries incorporated in Mainland China adopt 31 December as their financial year end for statutory purpose. For the purpose of preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements, management accounts of these subsidiaries as at and for the twelve months ended 30 April 2024 and 2025 were used, after making adjustments which are considered necessary by the directors of the Company for compliance with HKFRS Accounting Standards.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations other than common control combination. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated income statement.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.2 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive Directors that make strategic decisions.

34.3 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the 'functional currency'). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated income statement as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Notes to the Financial Statements

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- (i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
- (ii) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
- (iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders' equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the consolidated income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.4 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and other non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation, but are at least tested annually for impairment. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

34.5 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurements categories: those to be measured subsequently at fair value either through other comprehensive income or through profit or loss and those to be measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flow.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrecoverable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI. The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Notes to the Financial Statements

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.5 Financial assets (continued)

(c) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classified its debt instruments as financial assets at amortised cost.

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group's management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in "other gains/(losses), net" in the consolidated income statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.6 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

34.7 Accounts and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Accounts and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. See Note 34.5 for further information about the Group's accounting for accounts and other receivables for a description of the Group's impairment policies.

34.8 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

34.9 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

34.10 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Notes to the Financial Statements

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.11 Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.

34.12 Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

34.13 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.13 Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Pension obligations

The Group participated in a number of defined contribution plans, the assets of which are generally held in separate trustee-administered funds.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses in the consolidated income statement when they are due and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits, and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Notes to the Financial Statements

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax interest rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense in the consolidated income statement.

34.15 Rental income

Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

34.16 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

34.17 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flows discounted at original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

34 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (continued)

34.18 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders for final dividend and the board of directors for interim dividend.

34.19 Provision for reinstatement cost

Provision for reinstatement cost represents the present value of the estimated cost for the restoration work of the Group's leased retail shops agreed to be carried out upon the expiry of the relevant leases using a risk-free pre-tax interest rate. The provision has been determined by the directors based on their best estimates. The related reinstatement costs have been included as right-of-use asset in the consolidated statement of financial position (see Note 14).

34.20 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Schedule of Principal Investment Properties

All properties held for investment are under medium-term leases. Major investment properties of the Group are set out below:

Address	Lot No.	Existing use
 Unit 1012A and 1012B on level 10, No. 8 Caihetang Road, Haidian District, Beijing, The PRC 	IV-1-4-82(1)	Office Premises
 Shop No.33 on Ground Floor, Richland Garden, No. 138 Wu Chui Road, Tuen Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong 	Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 333	Shop
3. Flat H on 23rd Floor of Tower 5 of Aegean Coast No.2 Kwun Tsing Road, Tuen Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong	Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 374	Residential